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To be the best retailer of convenience

To consistently serve the changing needs of customers for their convenience
Memberi layanan secara konsisten mengikut perubahan keperluan semasa pelanggan demi keselesaan mereka

We seek to understand the 
needs of stakeholders & the 
company to make the best 
(balanced) decisions

Kami berusaha untuk 
memahami keperluan 
pelbagai pihak & juga pihak 
syarikat dalam membuat 
keputusan yang seimbang 
dan terbaik

Kami berusaha memudahkan 
setiap perkara untuk setiap 
pihak bagi mendapatkan 
penyelesaian yang terbaik

Kami sentiasa mencari jalan 
penyelesaian untuk memberi 
manfaat kepada semua 
pihak

Kami berkomunikasi 
secara berkesan untuk 
memaklumkan kepada 
semua pihak mengenai 
perkembangan terkini

We work towards making 
things convenient for people 
to increase the effectiveness 
of our solutions

We find ways to resolve 
issues that prevents us from 
delivering value to those we 
serve

We communicate 
to manage people’s 
expectations in the most 
effective manner
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7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad through  

its wholly-owned subsidiary, 7-Eleven Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 

is the owner and operator of 7-Eleven stores in Malaysia. 

Incorporated on 4 June 1984, 7-Eleven Malaysia has made its 

mark in the retailing scene and has been a prominent  

icon for over 30 years. 

7-Eleven Malaysia is the single largest convenience store 

chain with more than 2,100 stores nationwide, serving over 

900,000 customers daily.

OVERVIEW
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COMPANY PROFILE

7-Eleven’s first convenience outlet was known as Tote’m 
stores since customers “toted” away their purchases, and 
some even sported genuine Alaskan totem poles in front. 
In 1946, Tote’m became 7-Eleven to reflect the stores’ 
new, extended hours - 7 a.m. until 11 p.m., seven days 
a week. The corporate name was changed from The 
Southland Corporation to 7-Eleven, Inc. in 1999.

7-Eleven Malaysia is the pioneer and the largest 24-
hour convenience store operator in Malaysia. Upon 
achieving its 1,000 mark in stores network, 7-Eleven 

Malaysia opened its door to local entrepreneurs through 
its unique franchising program in 2009. We are the  
first franchisor in the local market to offer existing profit-
making stores to franchisees. 

7-Eleven stores can be found across bustling commercial 
districts to serene suburban residential compounds 
throughout Malaysia, from petrol stations and LRT 
stations to shopping malls and medical institutions. 
7-Eleven is Always There For You. 

7-Eleven was founded by J. C. Thompson in 1927 as The Southland Ice Company 

in Dallas, Texas. Started as an ice vendor, the company eventually began offering 

milk, bread and eggs on Sundays and evenings when grocery stores were closed. 

This new business idea produced satisfied customers and increased sales, spawning 

the precursor of the modern convenience retail concept. 
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Most 7-Eleven stores carry more than 2,200 Stock 
Keeping Units (“SKUs”), including our proprietary 
brands such as Slurpee frozen beverages and Big 
Gulp fountain soft drinks. The variety of services 
available at 7-Eleven include the bill payment 
service (TM, Astro, U-Mobile, Syabas and Singer), 
sale of mobile phone reload cards, IDD/STD,  
Touch ‘n Go reload, internet games’ starter packs, 
reloads via MOL Point top-up, MOL Pay, stored 
value gift cards, parcel lockers, ink cartridge refill, 
photocopying, fax, automated teller machine (ATM),  
and bulletin board for neighbourhood community 
notices.

In 2009, 7-Eleven introduced fresh brewed coffee 
and other hot beverages together with packaged fresh 
food and bakery for the convenience of customers 
looking for ready-to-eat hot food. All fresh food items 
sold in 7-Eleven are certified HALAL and undergo 
stringent quality control to ensure tastefulness and 
freshness. 

Being the premier neighbourhood convenience store, 
community building is in the heart of 7-Eleven’s  
corporate social responsibility framework. 7-Eleven 
Community Care is a non-profit entity set up to 
implement 7-Eleven Malaysia’s corporate social 
responsibility and philanthropic initiatives. We 
believe in giving back to the society we operate in, 
with a commitment to support the underprivileged  
groups and to sustain environmental conservation 
effort at the local community level across all regions.
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Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Gary Thomas Brown
Non-Independent Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer

Hishammudin Bin Hasan
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Non-Independent Executive Director/Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Tan U-Ming
Non-Independent Executive Director

Ho Meng 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Chan Kien Sing
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 
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Independent Non-Executive Director
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1.	 TAN SRI DATO’ SERI ABDULL  
   HAMID BIN EMBONG

	 Independent Non-Executive Chairman

2.	 GARY THOMAS BROWN
	 Non-Independent Executive Director/ 
	 Chief Executive Officer

3.	 Hishammudin Bin Hasan
	 Non-Independent Executive Director/ 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

4.	 TAN U-MING
	 Non-Independent Executive Director

5.	 HO MENG
	 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

1.

4.

2.

5.

3.
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6.	 Chan Kien Sing
	 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

7.	 TAN WAI FOON
	 Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

8.	 SHALET MARIAN 
Independent Non-Executive Director

9.	 Muhammad Lukman Bin Musa @ Hussain
	 Independent Non-Executive Director

10.	Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah
	 Independent Non-Executive Director

6.

9.

7.

10.

8.
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TAN SRI DATO’ SERI ABDULL HAMID BIN EMBONG
Male, Aged 67, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Tan Sri was appointed to our Board as Independent Non-
Executive Chairman on 20 July 2016.

Tan Sri finished secondary schooling at the Malay College 
Kuala Kangsar, Perak. He obtained a Barrister at Law degree 
at the Lincolns Inn, London and was admitted as an Utter 
Barrister in 1976.

Tan Sri served in the Judicial and Legal Service and was 
appointed to various posts including that of a Magistrate, 
Deputy Public Prosecutor, Legal Advisor and Senior Federal 
Counsel with the Customs and Excise Department, the 

Economic Planning Unit (PM Department), Ministry of Land 
and Regional Development, Treasury, Ministry of Home Affairs 
and Legal Advisor to the States of Negeri Sembilan and Pahang.

He was appointed a Judicial Commissioner in 1994 and a High 
Court Judge in 1996. In 2006, he was elevated to the Court of 
Appeal and in 2009 to the Federal Court Malaysia. He retired 
from the Bench in February 2016.

Tan Sri also serves on the Board of Ancom Berhad as 
Independent Non-Executive Director.

Mr. Gary Thomas Brown was appointed to our Board as Non-
Independent Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 
on 26 August 2014. As Chief Executive Officer, he is primarily 
responsible for supervising the performance and strategic 
directions of the 7-Eleven Malaysia Group.   

In 1980, he obtained a Certificate in Exporting from the Perth 
Technical College, Western Australia. Subsequently, in 1981, 
he obtained a Diploma in Export from the Australian Institute 
of Export.

Before obtaining his Certificate, he started his career with 
Metro Meat Ltd. (Perth, Western Australia) as an Export/ 
Shipping Clerk in 1978. Subsequently, in 1980, he joined Dairy 
Farm group of companies (Perth, Western Australia). During 
the years from 1980 to 1988, he was transferred to several 
corporations within the Dairy Farm group of companies in 
Australia, Brunei and Hong Kong, and held various positions 
including Wholesale Manager and Marketing Manager.

In 1988, he joined the Sara Lee group of companies (“Sara Lee 
Group”), as General Manager (Bakery, Asia). During the years 
from 1988 to 2011, he was transferred to several corporations 
within the Sara Lee Group in Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore, 
Thailand and the UK where he held various senior designations 
including, Regional Vice President (Asia Pacific and Africa).

In 2011, he joined Pos Ad Group Sdn. Bhd. as the Group Chief 
Executive Officer. Nearly two years later, he left Pos Ad Group 
Sdn. Bhd. and joined Permanis Sdn. Bhd. as a Commercial 
Consultant. 

In October 2013, he joined Berjaya Group Berhad as a 
Director (Business Development). Later, in December 2013, 
he left Berjaya Group Berhad and joined 7-Eleven Malaysia 
Sdn. Bhd. as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.

GARY THOMAS BROWN
Male, Aged 58, Permanent Resident of Malaysia/Australian
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Key Senior Management 
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HISHAMMUDIN BIN HASAN
Male, Aged 46, Singaporean
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Key Senior Management 

TAN U-MING
Male, Aged 30, Malaysian
Executive Director
Key Senior Management 

Encik Hishammudin Bin Hasan was appointed to our Board 
as Non-Independent Executive Director and Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer on 10 February 2017.  

He graduated from the Singapore Logistics Development 
Centre with Group Diploma in Logistics.  He started his career 
as an Army Officer in Singapore Armed Forces from 1989 to 
1996.

He has operated in both regional (Asia, Oceania and Africa) 
and local level and lived in four (4) countries - Singapore, 
Thailand, Malaysia and Indonesia, gleaning valuable 
learnings and insights into managing cultural differences and 
challenging business environment. Encik Hishammudin has 
strong Supply Chain and Commercial background having 
held various positions in 3 Multi-National companies over a 
span of 19 years before joining BERJAYA Corporation. 

Prior to joining the Company, he was the Director of Business 
Development in Berjaya Corporation Berhad since 2015, 
supervising retail companies for the group in Malaysia and 
Singapore. He served as Supply Chain Director in Danone 

Indonesia from 2013 to 2015, where together with the top 
management team, was responsible and accountable for 
the overall business strategy to increase market share and 
maximise profitability. He was also charged with revamping 
the Supply Chain of the company which includes Business 
Planning, Primary Sales and Route to Market.   

During his tenure in KRAFT Malaysia as Supply Chain Director 
from years 2010 to 2013, he completed the re-organisation 
of KRAFT Malaysia Supply Chain, where he re-structured 
the organisation, revamped the Sales & Operating Planning 
(S&OP) into Integrated Business Planning process to deliver a 
coordinated workflow across stakeholders.

From 1996 to 2010, he held various Operations and 
Commercial Roles in NESTLE – in Singapore, the Regional 
Office (based in Bangkok) and Malaysia where he was also 
involved in developing the Convenience business, and a 
company-wide restructuring project.

Mr. Tan U-Ming was appointed to our Board as Non-
Independent Executive Director on 21 August 2013.  

He studied in Irvine Valley College, California, US. He 
attended the franchisee and in-store training courses with 
7-Eleven USA in North America and has completed Phase I 
of Field Consultant Certification Training in Dallas, Texas, US.

In 2008, he was appointed as a Director of 7-Eleven 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. where he was responsible for overseeing 
merchandising, logistics and distribution as well as 

procurement and advertising and promotions functions 
of 7-Eleven Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.  In January 2011, he was 
promoted to the position of Executive Director of 7-Eleven 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.

Currently, he is an Executive Director of Sports Toto Malaysia 
Sdn. Bhd. and a Director of MOL Global Pte. Ltd. He also 
holds directorships in several other private companies.

He is the son of Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Vincent Tan Chee Yioun, 
who is a major shareholder of the Company.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS



10 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Kien Sing was appointed to our Board first as Non-
Independent Executive Director on 21 August 2013, then was 
re-designated as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 
22 April 2015.

He is a member of The Malaysian Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 
Having articled with Messrs Peat Marwick Mitchell (now 
known as KPMG) from 1975 to 1981, he subsequently joined 
Arab-Malaysian Merchant Bank Berhad (now known as 
AmInvestment Bank Berhad) specialising in corporate finance 
until 1989 when he joined Berjaya Group Berhad.

Currently, he is a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of 
Berjaya Corporation Berhad, Berjaya Sports Toto Berhad and 
Berjaya Assets Berhad. He is also the Managing Director of 
Sun Media Corporation Sdn Bhd and an Executive Director of 
Berjaya Media Berhad and International Lottery & Totalizator 
Systems Inc, United States of America. He also holds 
directorships in several other private limited companies.

CHAN KIEN SING
Male, Aged 60, Malaysian
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

HO MENG
Male, Aged 57, Malaysian
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ho Meng was appointed to our Board as Non-Independent 
Executive Director on 21 August 2013 and was re-designated 
as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 29 April 2016.

He qualified as a chartered accountant from the Malaysian 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA). He is 
a member of the MICPA and the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants and a fellow member of the CPA Australia.

He has extensive working experience in various financial and 
senior management positions with a number of private and 
public listed companies including several years in external and 
internal auditing since he began his professional career with a 
public accounting firm in 1979.  

He was also the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of 7-Eleven 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. until 29 April 2016, having served as an 
Executive Director and then the Managing Director since 
joining in 2011.

He was with DiGi Telecommunications Sdn Bhd for almost 10 
years after joining in 1995 when its mobile telecommunications 
service was launched and was the Chief Financial Officer 
when he left in 2005.  Prior to his appointment at 7-Eleven 
Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. in 2011, he was the Chief Executive Officer 
of Ansa Broadcast Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as U Television 
Sdn. Bhd.) between 2005 and 2010 and has remained as a 
Director as of to-date. Currently he is an Executive Director of 
REDtone International Berhad.
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TAN WAI FOON
Female, Aged 57, Malaysian
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Tan Wai Foon was appointed to our Board as Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director on 21 August 2013.  

She obtained her Bachelor of Arts degree in English from the 
University of Manitoba (Canada) and her MBA in Finance from 
the University of San Francisco (USA). She has more than 30 
years of experience in the investment management, advisory 
and stockbroking industry both in Malaysia and overseas.

Currently, she is also the Senior VP and Head of Business 
Development of Inter-Pacific Securities Sdn. Bhd.

She began her finance career in 1984 as an Investment Analyst 
and later Portfolio Manager, with NZI Investment Services in 
Auckland, New Zealand and Singapore respectively. In 1989, 
she joined Indosuez Asia Investment Services Ltd (Hong Kong) 
as Senior Investment Manager.

Between 1990 and 1998, she held various positions in 
stockbroking including Director of Sales and Corporate Broking 
at Peregrine Securities Limited (Hong Kong and London), 
Head of Asian Equity Sales at Morgan Grenfell Asia Securities 
Limited (London), Country Head of Malaysian Equities Product 

as well as representing Morgan Grenfell Asia Securities Limited 
(Hong Kong) as Executive Director of K&N Kenanga Sdn. Bhd. 

In 1998, she returned to fund management and joined Grand 
Generale Asset Management Limited (GGAM) as Senior 
Investment Manager. In 1999, GGAM was acquired by Fortis 
and merged as Fortis Investment Management Asia Limited, 
where she was promoted to Director of Research (Asia). In 
2002, she moved to Fortis Investment Management France 
SA as the Head of Asian Funds and Coordinator of Emerging 
Market Equities Research. 

In 2003, she joined Ward Ferry Management Ltd where 
she was Senior Investment Manager and left in 2006 to set 
up WMG Asia Limited as the Chief Portfolio Manager and 
Managing Director, a position she held until 2015. In 2012, 
she joined Inter-Pacific Securities Sdn. Bhd.   

She currently serves as Chairman and Executive Director of 
MOL AccessPortal Sdn. Bhd., Chairman of Singer (Malaysia) 
Sdn. Bhd. and as Non-Executive Director in Berjaya Retail 
Berhad.

SHALET MARIAN
Female, Aged 60, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ms. Shalet Marian was appointed to our Board as Independent 
Non-Executive Chairman on 21 August 2013 and re-designated 
as Independent Non-Executive Director on 20 July 2016.

She is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

She was articled with Messrs Peat Marwick Mitchell in 1977 
and gained her professional qualification as a chartered 
accountant in 1982. She served as internal auditor of Arab-
Malaysian Merchant Bank (now known as AmInvestment Bank 
Berhad) in 1984.

She resumed her career as a public accountant in 1985 with 
KPMG and thereafter specialised in tax with effect from 1988. 
During the period she helmed Corporate Tax and subsequently 
Indirect and Transaction Taxes before being appointed as the 
Country Risk Manager and Head of Ethics and Independences 
while concurrently serving as Chief Financial and Operating 
Officer.

She served as advisor to Mustapharaj Sdn. Bhd., a consultancy 
firm, from 2011 to 31 December 2015. She currently serves 
as the Non-Executive Chief Operating Officer of Lejadi 
Foundation.

She was appointed as a Director of Hong Leong Assurance 
Berhad on 16 June 2016.
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Encik Muhammad Lukman Bin Musa @ Hussain has been an 
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since 
21 June 2013. 

He commenced his career in 1998 as an external auditor with 
Andersen & Co (Malaysia). In 2001, he has pursued his career 
in United Kingdom and his last position in United Kingdom 
was as the Manager in Banking & Capital Market Division 
at the London office of Ernst & Young LLP, United Kingdom. 
Upon his return in 2008, he joined Ernst & Young (Malaysia) 
as the Audit and Assurance Director, and was responsible 
in managing various Government Linked and Multinational 
Companies portfolio. In 2011, he left Ernst & Young (Malaysia) 
to hold the position as Chief Operating and Chief Financial 

Officer of Unitar Capital Sdn Bhd (UNITAR), the operator of 
UNITAR International University, and a subsidiary of Ekuiti 
Nasional Berhad. In June 2016, he left UNITAR and joined 
MARA Corporation Sdn. Bhd., a newly set up strategic 
investment holding company of Majlis Amanah Rakyat 
(MARA) as the Chief Financial Officer.  

He holds a Bachelor in Accountancy Studies from University 
of Porstmouth. He is also a qualified Chartered Accountant 
from Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) and is a fellow 
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales (ICAEW).

MUHAMMAD LUKMAN BIN MUSA @ HUSSAIN
Male, Aged 41, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director

Note:-
1.	 The details of Board Committees held by the Directors and the number of board meetings attended by them are disclosed in 

the Statement on Corporate Governance.

2.	 Save as disclosed, none of the Directors have:-

∙ 	 Any other directorship in public companies and listed issuers;
∙ 	 Any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder;
∙ 	 Any conflict of interest with the Company;
∙ 	 Any convictions for offences within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any; and
∙ 	 Any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

PUAN SRI DATUK ROHANI BINTI ABDULLAH
Female, Aged 61, Malaysian
Independent Non-Executive Director

Puan Sri was appointed to our Board as Independent Non-
Executive Director on 10 February 2017.  
 
She obtained her Master of Business Administration from 
Oklahoma State University, USA in 1995.
 
Her career spanned primarily in the land and regional 
development, communication and multimedia, human 
resources and higher education sectors. She was extensively 
involved in international and policy respects of these sectors 
and departments and left the government service in 2012 as 
the Deputy Secretary General of Ministry of Higher Education.  
She concluded her career in the public sector as a Senior 
Fellow at University Teknologi Malaysia.
 

Since mid-2015, Puan Sri has involved herself solely with the 
corporate sector and her role as the current President (since 
2012) of PUSPANITA Kebangsaan (Association of Women Civil 
Servants and Wives of Civil Servants) which is a charity and 
volunteer organisation. 
 
Puan Sri currently serves on the Board of Nylex (Malaysia) 
Berhad and CCM Duopharma Biotech Berhad.
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Note:-
1.	 Save as disclosed, none of the Key Senior Management have:-

∙  	 Any other directorship in public companies and listed issuers;
∙  	 Any family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder;
∙  	 Any conflict of interest with the Company;
∙  	 Any convictions for offences within the past five (5) years other than traffic offences, if any; and
∙  	 Any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.

LIM HENG SEONG
Male, Aged 47, Malaysian
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Lim Heng Seong was appointed as Chief Financial Officer 
of the Company on 19 May 2015. Equipped with more than 24 
years of experience in finance, accounting and auditing which 
involved various industries such as retail, trading, manufacturing, 
IT consulting services, telecommunications and public accounting 
practice, he is responsible for the overall finance functions of the 
Company.

He holds a Bachelor Degree in Accounting (First Class Honours) 
from University of Malaya and also a member of The Malaysian 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA), Malaysian 

Institute of Accountants (MIA) and Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (ACCA).

Prior to joining 7-Eleven, he was the Finance Director, a member 
of the Board of Directors and the Company Secretary of Courts 
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., the largest consumer electronics and 
furniture retailer in Malaysia for 4 1/2 years. He also held senior 
finance management positions in various companies such as Body 
Fashion (M) Sdn. Bhd., Axon Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and Telekom 
Malaysia Berhad before embarking his journey in Courts. 

Please refer to page 8 of this Annual Report 
for Mr. Gary Thomas Brown profile.

Please refer to page 9 of this Annual Report 
for Encik Hishammudin bin Hasan profile.

Please refer to page 9 of this Annual Report 
for Mr. Tan U-Ming profile.

GARY THOMAS BROWN
Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer

HISHAMMUDIN BIN HASAN
Executive Director and Deputy 
Chief Executive Officer

TAN U-MING
Executive Director
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DELIVERING VALUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Board with the help of our outstanding Management team supported by our motivated and dedicated staff have  
indeed worked hard in delivering value to the shareholders.  Today we serve more than 900,000 customers every day.

The Board recognises the commitment of the team in their endeavour to solidify the Group’s position as the number one  
retailer of convenience in Malaysia. The Board also reaffirms its commitment to develop true convenience to serve the  
communities in which it operates, where our stores are open 24/7 every day. As our tagline says “7-Eleven Always There  
For You”.

In the past year, the Group has continued to improve and innovate the product offering and overall shopping experience  
for its customers. This has come in the form of, new and exciting promotional activity, expansion of our fresh food and  
beverage offerings, further additions to our in-store services, increased store outlet numbers and improved merchandise mix.  
The successful implementation of these initiatives has enabled us to strengthen our position that 7-Eleven is the premier 
convenience retail operator. 

With our strong foundations in management, product mix and an unrivalled store network, the Board is delighted to report a  
robust financial performance by the company. Sales delivered good results for the year despite the difficult FMCG retail 
market, which was impacted by the on-going effects of Goods and Service Tax (GST), as well as the minimum wage increases  
implemented on 1st of July 2016, which affected the Group significantly.

The Board has announced interim and special dividends representing an almost full pay-out of our profits in the year. The dividend  
pay-out exceeds our projected pay-out of up to 50% of our profits as set out in our prospectus when the company was listed  
and is the 3rd successive year we have paid a similar % of earnings dividend.

The Board remains committed to delivering shareholder value without sacrificing the resilience of the operating framework  
of the Group.

Dear Shareholders,

We are delighted to report the continued growth of the Group’s operations in 2016 to an unmatched 
network of 2,122 stores in Malaysia. As the Group’s network has expanded, the product offerings have 
evolved and strengthened in order to bring “True Convenience” to the Malaysian retail market. Given  
the well documented softness in the Malaysian retail environment in 2016, we are proud of our  
considerable and significant achievements. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

STRENGTHENING, ENHANCING AND EXPANDING OUR 
OPERATING NETWORK 

We finished the year with a network of 2,122 stores  
operating, and we remain confident of our ability to expand 
the network further. We celebrated our 2,000th store opening 
in July 2016, which represented a key achievement for the 
Group. 

During the year we opened 178 net new stores in various 
locations across the whole of Malaysia and East Malaysia. 
The stores were opened using our Black Wood Grain  
concept fit out style, which continues to resonate positively 
amongst our customers. With overall shopping atmosphere 
playing a vital role in attracting customers to our stores, 
providing an inviting and modern shopping environment 
will continue to be our goal going forward. Our plan is to 
continue to bring 7-Eleven true convenience to more and 
more customers in Malaysia and as such we will continue  
to further expand our store network in 2017.  

Our store refurbishment plan continued during 2016 with  
more than 200 stores undergoing upgrades and full 
refurbishments with a similar number planned in 2017.

During the year we embarked on many innovative and  
creative promotional campaigns to reward our existing 
customers and to attract new customers to our stores. 
Promotional campaigns undertaken in 2016 include, Buncit 
Bears, Trolls, Tokidoki, Awesome April, Pesta Merdeka, BYO 
Slurpee Cup, all of which were popularly received with  
our customers. We will continue to implement more 
promotional campaigns as they clearly resonate well with 
our customers and they are strongly supported by our supply 
partners. Most importantly, they prove to be a wonderful  
way of thanking and rewarding our customers for shopping  
in 7-Eleven.

We have maintained our position as one of the largest 
channels in the country for mobile phone reloads, and we 
have continued to build upon our range of in-store services, 
in particular by tapping into e-commerce opportunities.  
2016 saw the launch of our Boxit parcel lockers, where 
merchants can deliver online purchases to 7-Eleven stores 
for customers to collect. Lazada became our first merchant  
to commence using these parcel lockers and we are now 
building a broad range of merchants and courier companies 
to join the Boxit services. Bill payments consistently grew 
over the year, as our customers began to understand the fast, 
easy and convenient nature of our bill payment offering. 
Going forward, in-store services will play an invaluable part 
in delivering true convenience to our customers, and we  
will look to add more merchants to the platform.

STRONG FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In the face of the aforementioned difficult FMCG retail  
market in 2016, the Company has recorded a formidable  
4.8% growth rate in total sales compared to the previous  
year. Total sales amounted to RM2.103 billion although our 
same stores sales showed a marginal decline of 1.5% as  
a result of the GST impact on sales values. 
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Our full year 2016 profit after tax was RM52.2 million. The profits were impacted by a number of factors including the impact  
on sales of GST and an increase in the national minimum wage whilst continuing with on-gong store expansion and investment  
in our new IT system. However, through good management of the expense area and cost cutting initiatives, selling and  
distribution expenses increased by only 5.8% despite the store network having grown by 9.2%.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

A key highlight for the year was the opening of our 2,000th store in July 2016. This represented a significant milestone  
the Group and showed how far we had come from a base of 176 stores in January 2001. The event was covered widely in the 
press, and we certainly look forward to many more celebrations like this one.

Our tremendous achievements were recognised by industry peers and associates when we picked up the Putra Brand  
Awards 2016: The People’s Choice Bronze in Retail and the Dragons of Malaysia Awards 2016.

SERVING THE COMMUNITIES IN WHICH WE OPERATE

Giving back to the community in which we operate remains a high priority for 7-Eleven Malaysia. We are proud of the  
positive impact our CSR initiatives which have taken the form of, the 7-Eleven & SOLS 24-7 NGO hub, Street Feeding with  
the Pertiwi Soup Kitchen, our Unisel Voice for Refugee Engagement Event, our annual Semurni Kasih campaign and our  
Merdeka celebration with the Great Heart Association to name a few. We look forward to continuing our CSR efforts in the  
coming years, and to further strengthening our relationship and engagement with the local community. 

OUR PROSPECTS

Despite the ongoing issues relating to consumer confidence which in turn impacts consumer spend, I remain confident in  
the future growth prospects of the Group and that the right initiatives are being implemented to take the company forward, and 
to maintaining our market leadership position.  

In closing I would sincerely like to thank all those who helped the company in 2016. This includes our customers for their 
patronage, our business partners and stakeholders, government offices, franchisees and of course all of our highly valued 
employees. I would also like to thank my fellow Board members for their tremendous support and contribution during the  
year.

Tan Sri Dato Seri Abdull Hamid Embong
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 17

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
& COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

AT THE FOREFRONT OF RESPONSIBILITY IN THE  

SOCIETY, WORKPLACE AND ENVIRONMENT

Responsibility is a guiding light of 7-Eleven Malaysia’s  

business strategy and, as a leader in the Malaysian  

convenience store chain industry; we demonstrate  

responsible corporate conduct across all aspects of our 

operations. Our conduct is as important as our reputation  

and we believe that growth and productivity are not to be 

achieved at the expense of responsibility.

We believe in leading responsibly and adding sustainable 

value to the communities in which we operate.

Elements of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) have run  

in the veins of our company for a long time. Today, perhaps 

more so than before, the company recognized that there is 

a need to evolve our CSR program, Community Care further 

as we move towards strengthening responsible behaviour in  

all our corporate, social and environmental endeavours.

Community Care is integral to our approach in walking  

the talk as a responsible corporate citizen. We define CSR  

as multiple processes coming together to produce an  

overall positive impact on society and stakeholders which 

encompasses every aspect of how we run our business, 

from appropriate marketing and consumer information 

to supporting Government programs, from respecting  

workplace human rights and reducing our environmental 

impact as well as contributing back to local communities.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
& COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Our Community Care program

The 3 Guiding Lights of Responsibility

7-Eleven Malaysia’s Corporate Social Responsibility program 

framework of Society, Workplace and Environment are our 

guiding lights as a responsible retailer.

1.	 Society

The company believes in adding value to the  

communities in which it operates and ensuring it upholds 

high standards of behavior and integrity in everything 

that it undertakes. Beyond creating jobs in communities 

throughout Malaysia, we recognize the responsibility to 

act responsibly and constructively as a member of these 

communities through a broad range of initiatives such as 

charitable giving, foundation grants and volunteerism.  

2.	 Workplace

7-Eleven Malaysia recognizes that diversity and inclusion 

are critical to our business operations and strives to 

create an environment where employees feel that they 

can speak honestly about their company and issues of 

importance to them through specifically created channels 

of communication, such as ‘7-Eleven Wiki’ and responds 

to them by providing a great place to work from aspects 

like learning and training to rewards.

3.	 Environment

The company recognizes Quality, Health, Safety and 

Environment as some of the key elements that drive 

leadership and sustainability of its operations. 7-Eleven 

Malaysia aspires to actively minimize our environmental 

impacts by embarking on pilot programs such as LED 

energy efficient lightings, carbon footprint reduction at 

our distribution channels and remaining steadfast in our 

support of other environmental programs such as No 

Plastic Bag weekends.
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Kirtash Handicapped and Disabled 
Children’s Home 

Mobile Street Feeding with Global 

Unisel Voice for Refugee Engagement 
Event

Street Feeding with Pertiwi Soup 
Kitchen

INTI International College: Barefoot 
Awareness Race

CSR Event with PAWS

SS14 Subang Community CNY 
Gathering

Larian Spektra Universiti Malaya

World Youth Jazz Festival at Dataran 
Merdeka

January 2016

March 2016

April 2016

February 2016

April 2016

May 2016 

March 2016

April 2016

May 2016

Able Charity Run - Taylor’s Lakeside 
Campus

Bubur Lambuk Distribution at Masjid 
Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur

Msri X Alice Smith Fundraising Event - 
Alice Smith School, Seri Kembangan 

June 2016 June 2016 June 2016

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
& COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
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You Pledge We Plant Launch

Career & Internship Fair 2016 - 
Monash University

CSR Program : You Pledge We Plant 
Fulfillment Event

MEC (Myanmar Education Centre) 
Faisal Cup Football Tournament 2016

#2307 Caltex Store Opening @ USJ

Supporting local sporting talent

Merdeka celebration with Great 
Heart Association

KDU Convocation @ KDU Glenmarie

CSR Event : Makeover at Taman Seri 
Puteri

July 2016

August 2016

October 2016

July 2016

September 2016

November 2016

August 2016

October 2016

November 2016

Blood Donation Drive by Operations Lean In Summit 2016 @ Bank 
Negara Malaysia

Growing with Ladang Care
November 2016 December 2016 December 2016

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
& COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
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MILESTONES 2016

Slurpee Taste Test through on-ground 
engagement activity

Creating new menu with Brahims 
SATS Food Services on Fresh to Go 
products

3rd Annual General Meeting

Bloggers Gathering with 7-Eleven

Buncit Bear Campaign

Semurni Kasih Collection Campaign 
2016

International Hot Air Balloon Fiesta 

Launch of BOXit 

2,000th Store Opening at Scott Garden

January 2016

April 2016

May 2016

February 2016

May 2016

June 2016

March 2016

May 2016

July 2016

Putra Brand Awards 2016: The 
People’s Choice Bronze in Retail

Dreamworks Trolls Magnet 
Collectible Campaign

Light Sensation Event Exclusive 
On-Ground Ticket Partner

August 2016 September 2016 September 2016
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MILESTONES 2016

Launch of 7-Select Artissue™

Successful Bids to run retail spaces 
at MRT stations

4th National Dual Training System 
(SLDN) Program Convocation

The Journeys of Discovery Contest

BYOC Slurpee Campaign 2016

Dragons of Malaysia Awards 2016

TokiDoki Planner & Notebook Campaign

September 2016

October 2016

December 2016

October 2016

November 2016

October 2016

December 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overview

7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad Group is the largest convenience store operator in Malaysia in terms of number of stores, 
with a market share of 82% of the standalone convenience store segment as of March 2014 according to the independent market 
research report published in the Company’s Initial Public Offering (IPO) prospectus dated 8 May 2014.

We opened our first “7-Eleven” convenience store 30 years ago under the “7-Eleven” brand name and we are the sole operator 
of “7-Eleven” convenience stores within Malaysia and licensee for Brunei.

As at 31 December 2016, we have a total of 2,122 stores serving more than 900,000 customers per day. There were 1,975 or 
93.1% corporate owned stores and 147 or 6.9% that were operated by franchisees.

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 of RM2.1 billion grew RM97.1 million or 4.8% compared 
to the preceding financial year revenue of RM2.01 billion. The growth in revenue was driven by growth in new stores, improved 
merchandise mix and consumer promotion activity. This growth was achieved despite prolonged on-going retail market softness 
caused by weak consumer confidence/spending.

In 2016, we opened 204 new stores and closed 26 stores for a net increase of 178 stores. Our store count increased by 178 stores 
or 9.2 % from 1,944 stores to 2,122 stores. 

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit improved by RM28.2 million or 4.6% compared to the corresponding 12 months in the previous year and this is 
mainly attributable to the revenue growth of 4.8%. 

Other Operating Income

For the financial year under review, other operating income increased by 5.3% to RM115.5 million as compared to the preceding 
financial year.  The growth was primarily contributed by the increase in our income from display incentives and marketing and 
promotion activities.  The growth was achieved despite the decline in interest income to RM1.8 million for the current financial 
year from RM5.3 million recorded for the preceding financial year. It is worthy to note that the year-on-year growth in the 
marketing income of 8.6% was higher than the revenue growth of 4.8% in 2016. 

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for financial year 2016  increased by RM32.8 million or 5.8% year-on-year, mainly caused by 
higher staff cost, rental cost, store depreciation expense and utility cost which is in tandem with new store expansion coupled 
with the impact of minimum wage increase on the staff cost from 1st July 2016.  
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administration and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by RM6.1million or 7.0% compared to the corresponding 12 months in 
the previous year.

Profit from Operations 

Profit from operations of RM73.4 million for the 12 months ended 31 December 2016 declined by 6.1% or RM4.8 million year-
on-year which was mainly attributed to lower sales growth due to low consumer confidence, and higher selling and distribution 
expenses from new store expansion and impact of minimum wage increase effective 1 July 2016 on the salary cost.

Finance Cost

Finance cost for the current financial year has increased by RM2.3 million vis-à-vis preceding financial year mainly attributed to 
utilisation of bankers’ acceptance, revolving credit and term loan facilities.

Profit after Tax

The profit after tax for the financial year ended 2016 was RM52.2 million compared to RM55.8 million recorded for the preceding 
financial year. The decline in the profit after tax by 6.5% year-on-year was mainly attributed to the reasons mentioned above in 
the section on Profit from Operations.

Liquidity and Financial Resources 

As at 31st December 2016, the Group retained cash and bank balances of RM49.5 million despite cash outlay for dividend 
payment for financial year 2015 of RM55.5 million and purchase of treasury shares aggregating RM131.7 million during the year.

The Group has total borrowings of RM115.7 million as at 31st December 2016. The borrowings comprise of bankers’ acceptance, 
revolving credit and term loan facilities which were utilized for funding working capital and capital expenditures for new stores 
and refurbishments. Despite utilisation of the said borrowings, the net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31st December 2016 
remained low at 0.29 time.

Prospects

The Board of Directors is of the view that the trading condition for 2017 is expected to remain challenging due to continued weak 
consumer confidence/spending and current macro-economic conditions. Despite this latest development, we remain positive of 
holding onto our market leading position. 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

7-Eleven Malaysia
Holdings Berhad

7-Eleven Malaysia
Sdn. Bhd.

100%

7 Properties
Sdn. Bhd.

100%

Convenience 
Shopping (Sabah)

Sdn. Bhd.

100%

Teluk Juara
Sdn. Bhd.

100%
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GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2016 2015 2014 2013* 2012*
Description RM’000 RM‘000 RM‘000 RM‘000 RM‘000

Revenue  2,103,367  2,006,284  1,893,104  1,672,465  1,579,123 

Profit Before Tax  70,817  77,842  89,314  65,264  56,573 

Profit After Tax  52,173  55,801  63,074  44,101  40,482 

Profit Attributable To Shareholder  52,173  55,801  63,074  44,101  40,482 

Share Capital  123,338  123,338  123,338  105,200  105,200 

Treasury shares  (190,625)  (58,913)  -    -    -   

Share Premium  1,361,800  1,361,800  1,361,800  1,136,160  1,136,160 

Reserves  83,924  87,217  94,319  31,245  104,644 

Capital Reorganisation Deficit  (1,343,248)  (1,343,248)  (1,343,248)  (1,343,248)  (1,343,248)

Total Equity  35,189  170,194  236,209  (70,643)  2,756 

Long Term Liabilities  47,992  14,667  15,638  19,364  25,652 

Current Liabilities 690,324  558,808  483,303  539,628  489,884 

Total Equity and Liabilities 773,505  743,669  735,150  488,349  518,292 

Property, Plant & Equipment  318,801  303,608  242,473  194,787  166,401 

Investment Property  212  217  222  229  236 

Intangible Assets  35,822  21,232  11,499  596  596 

Investment and Other Non-Current Asset  1  1  1  1  1 

Current Assets 418,669  418,611  480,955  292,736  351,058 

Total Assets 773,505  743,669  735,150  488,349  518,292 

Net Assets Per Share (sen)  3.17  14.27  19.15  (6.72)  0.26 

Basic Earning Per Share (sen)  4.50  4.55  5.44  4.19  3.85 

*	 The comparatives for the financial years ended 31 December 2012 and 2013 have been presented for illustrative purpose 
only to show the effects of the transactions, as described below, with the assumption that these transactions had taken place 
as at the earliest date presented. For the financial year ended 31 December 2013, the figures presented above are different 
from those presented as comparatives to the audited financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.  
Those comparatives have not taken up the effects of the acquisition of 7-Eleven Malaysia by 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings as 
the acquisition had not taken place as at 31 December 2013.

The acquisition of the entire issued and paid-up share capital of 7-Eleven Malaysia by 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings for a purchase 
consideration of RM1,378,247,497 (“The Acquisition”) was satisfied in the following manner:

a.	 Issuance of 1,051,999,980 new shares at an issue price of RM1.18 per share; and

b.	 Issuance of promissory note amounting to RM136,887,521 in favour of Berjaya Retail Berhad (“BRetail”). Upon the receipt 
of the Note, BRetail indorsed without recourse such Note in favour of 7-Eleven Malaysia and delivered the Note duly 
indorsed to 7-Eleven Malaysia in full settlement of the amount owed by BRetail to 7-Eleven Malaysia, to the extent of the 
sum of RM136,887,521.

The Acquisition is a reorganisation and does not result in any change of economic substance. Accordingly, the consolidated 
financial statements of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings is a continuation of 7-Eleven Malaysia Group and is accounted for as follows:

a.	 The results of entities are presented as if the reorganisation had been effected throughout the current and previous years 
presented;

b.	 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings consolidates the assets and liabilities of the 7-Eleven Malaysia Group at their pre-combination 
carrying amounts. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognise any new assets or liabilities, at the date of 
the combination that would otherwise be done under the acquisition method; and

c.	 No new goodwill is recognised as a result of the reorganisation. The only goodwill that is recognised is the existing goodwill 
relating to the combining entities. Difference between the consideration paid/transferred and the equity acquired is reflected 
within equity.
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

CHARTS ON FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Corporate Store  1,235  1,389  1,587  1,793 1,975

Franchise Store  172  168  158  151  147 

Store Count  1,407  1,557  1,745  1,944 2,122

Revenue (RM’million)  1,579.1  1,672.5  1,893.1  2,006.3 2,103.4

Profit after Tax (RM’milion) 40.5 44.1 63.1 55.8 52.2

EBITDA (RM’million)  99.9  104.2  130.9  127.4 126.5

Profit After Tax (RM’ Million)

40.5

99.9

1,579.1

44.1

104.2

1,672.5

63.1

130.9

1,893.1

55.8
52.2

127.4 126.5

2,006.3
2,103.4

Revenue (RM’ Million)

EBITDA (RM’ Million)

Store Count
Franchise Stores
Corporate Stores

1,235

1,407

1,389

1,557

1,587

1,745

1,793 1,975

1,944

2,122

‘16’12 ’13 ‘14 ’15

‘16’12 ’13 ‘14 ’15

‘16’12 ’13 ‘14 ’15

‘16’12 ’13 ‘14 ’15
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168
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad (the “Company”) recognises the importance of 
adopting high corporate governance standards to enhance shareholder value, besides safeguarding stakeholder interest. In its 
application of corporate governance practices, the Board has taken into consideration the enumerations of the Malaysian Code on 
Corporate Governance 2012 (“MCCG 2012” or the “Code”) and the Main Market Listing Requirements (“Listing  Requirements”) 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).

This Corporate Governance Statement (the “Statement”) sets out how the Company has applied the eight (8) Principles and 
observed the 26 Recommendations, including Commentaries, of the MCCG 2012 for the financial year ended 31 December 
2016. 

PRINCIPLE 1: Establishing Clear Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

Board of Directors  

The Board recognises the key role it plays in charting the strategic direction of the Company and has assumed the following duties 
and responsibilities in discharging its fiduciary and leadership functions:

•	 reviewing, evaluating, adopting and approving the strategic plans and policies of the Company and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”);

•	 overseeing and monitoring the conduct of business, financial performance and major capital commitments of the Group;
•	 reviewing  and  adopting  budgets  and  financial  results  of the  Group,  monitoring  compliance  with applicable financial 

reporting standards and the integrity and adequacy of financial information disclosure;
•	 reviewing and approving any major corporate proposals, new business ventures or joint ventures of the Group;
•	 identifying principal risks and deploying appropriate risk management system to manage these risks;
•	 establishing and overseeing a succession planning programme for the Group, including remuneration policy;
•	 establishing, reviewing and implementing  corporate communication policies with shareholders and investors, other key 

stakeholders and the public;
•	 reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the internal control and management information systems of the Group; and
•	 developing a corporate code of conduct to address, amongst others, any conflicts of interest relating to Directors, major 

shareholders and employees in the Group.

Board Committees

To assist in the discharge of its stewardship role, the Board has established the following Board Committees to examine specific 
matters within their respective terms of reference, as approved by the Board:

•	 Audit Committee;
•	 Nominating Committee;
•	 Remuneration Committee; and
•	 Risk Management Committee.

The Board Committees report to the Board on their recommendations, while the ultimate responsibility for decision making lies 
with the Board.

Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for providing leadership and overseeing the day-to-day operations and management 
within their specific areas of expertise or assigned responsibilities.

The Non-Executive Directors, both Independent as well as Non-Independent, are not involved in the day- to-day management of 
the Company but contribute to the development of the Company’s business strategy with the expertise and experience they bring 
to the Board. The Non-Executive Directors’ involvement in, and contribution to, Board Committees enhances the effectiveness of 
the Company’s governance processes by providing independent judgment and objectivity to the Board’s decision.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

I.	 Board Charter

	 The Company has established and adopted a Board Charter which serves as a reference point for Board activities. The Board 
Charter provides guidance for Directors and Management regarding the responsibilities of the Board, Board Committees 
and Senior Management, the requirements of Directors in carrying out their stewardship roles and in discharging their 
fiduciary duties towards the Company as well as boardroom activities. The Board Charter is publicly available on the 
Company’s website at www.7eleven.com.my.

	 The Board has established a formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board for its deliberation and decision in order to 
enhance the delineation of roles between the Board and Management, as well as to ensure the direction and control of the 
Group’s operations are in the Board’s hands.

II.	 Code of Ethics

	 The Board has formalised a Directors’ Code of Ethics setting out the standards of ethical business behaviour expected from 
Directors, and has embedded it in the Board Charter.

	 While there are individual provisions governing employees’ behaviour and conduct, the Company recognises the 
importance of having in place a formalised Code of Conduct/ Ethics setting out ethical corporate culture, acceptable 
behaviour, business ethics and conduct for the Group’s employees, and steps will be taken to formalise such a Code of 
Conduct/ Ethics for observance by the Group’s employees, including mechanisms to monitor compliance thereof.

	 The Board has established a whistle-blowing mechanism, including pertinent policies and procedures, with the aim to 
provide an avenue for concerns relating to possible breaches of business conduct, non- compliances of laws and regulatory 
requirements, and other questionable practices to be raised by employees  as well as outside parties without fear of reprisals 
or retaliation by the Company.  The whistle-blowing policy is publicly available on the Company’s website at www.7eleven.
com.my.

III.	 Sustainability

	 The Board is mindful of its responsibility on the Environmental,  Social and Governance (“ESG”) aspects of business 
sustainability. As such, the ESG aspects are considered by the Board in its corporate strategies. Cognizant of this responsibility, 
the Board has adopted a sustainability policy that addresses the impact of the Group’s businesses on environmental, 
governance and social elements.

IV.	 Access to Information and Advice

	 Directors are entitled to unrestricted access to all Company information, documents, records and property, either as a full 
Board or in their individual capacity in order to better discharge their responsibilities.

	 To facilitate Board meetings, notices on agenda together with supporting Board papers are circulated to Directors in advance 
of each meeting. Senior Management, other senior executives or professional advisers are invited to attend Board meetings 
to provide additional insights and professional views, advice and explanation on specific items on the meeting agenda, 
where necessary.

	 The  Board  has  adopted  a  policy  enabling  Board  Committees  and  Directors  to  have  access  to independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense as and when considered necessary, in furtherance of their duties. This policy 
is included in the Board Charter.

 
 V.	 Company Secretaries
	
	 Directors have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company Secretaries to enable them to discharge their 

duties effectively and that Board procedures are adhered to at all times. The Board is regularly updated and advised by 
the Company Secretaries who are qualified and experienced on statutory and regulatory requirements,  and the resultant 
implications of any changes therein to the Group and Directors in relation to their duties and responsibilities.
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PRINCIPLE 2: STRENGTHENING THE BOARD’S COMPOSITION

As of the date of this report, the Board consisted of ten (10) members, comprising three (3) Executive Directors, three (3) Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director and four (4) Independent Directors. This composition fulfils the Listing Requirements, which 
stipulate that at least two (2) Directors or one-third of the Board, whichever is higher, must be Independent. The profile of each 
Director is set out on pages 8 to 12 of this Annual Report. The Directors, with their diverse background and qualifications, 
collectively bring with them a wide range of experience and expertise in areas such as accounting and auditing, taxation, retail, 
finance, legal, information technology and investment.

I.	 Nominating Committee

The Board has established a Nominating Committee to consider candidates for directorship and Board Committee 
membership, and to review the effectiveness of the Board, through performance assessment of the Board, Board Committees 
and individual Directors. The Terms of Reference of Nominating Committee is publicly available on the Company’s website 
at www.7eleven.com.my.

The Nominating Committee comprises the following members and their attendance during the financial year ended 31 
December 2016 are as follows:
 

Name of Director Meeting attended

Shalet Marian, Chairperson 
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

3/3

Tan Wai Foon, member 
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

3/3

Muhammad Lukman bin Musa @ Hussain, member
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

3/3

The Board has entrusted specific terms of reference to the Nominating Committee, which cover, inter- alia, the following 
salient functions:

•	 to assist the Board in reviewing, on an annual basis, the required mix of skills, experience and other qualities, including 
core competencies of Directors;

•	 to assess and recommend to the Board, candidates for directorship and Board Committee membership, including 
chairmanship;

•	 to establish a mechanism for the formal annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board, as a whole, and the 
contribution of each individual Director based on objective performance criteria; and

•	 to provide for adequate training for Board members and orientation of new Directors with respect to the business, 
structure and Management of the Group, enabling the Directors to receive appropriate continuous training in order to 
keep them apprised of regulatory requirements.

 
The Board Diversity Policy established by the Company has no specific target on gender, age or ethnicity composition in the 
Board, as it believes the Company should be appointing Directors who bring with them the requisite skills and experience 
to enable the Company realise its corporate strategies and objective.  Nevertheless, the current composition of the Board 
represents a diverse mix of Directors of different gender, age and ethnicity, in addition to the blend of background, skills, 
experience and expertise.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Nominating Committee carried out, and reported to the Board the 
outcome of, the following key activities:

•	 conducted the annual assessment on the effectiveness of the Board, Board Committees and individual Directors,;
•	 conducted independence assessment for Independent Directors;
•	 recommendation of the directors who are due for re-election by rotation at the Third Annual General Meeting 

(“AGM”);
•	 recommended to the Board, candidates for directorships of the Board, including candidates proposed by any Director; 

and
•	 reviewed annually the term of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members to determine 

whether such Audit Committee and members have carried out their duties in accordance with their terms of reference.
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A formal performance assessment of the Board, Board Committees and individual Directors enables the Board to assess its 
performance and identify areas for improvement. Such a formal assessment was conducted  for  the  financial  year  ended  
31  December  2016,  and  was  guided  by  the  Corporate Governance Guide – Towards Boardroom Excellence taking into 
consideration the following key elements for assessment:

•	 appropriate size, composition, independence, mix of skills and experience within the Board and the Board Committees;
•	 clear definition of the Board and Board Committees’ roles and responsibilities;
•	 effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees in carrying out their roles and responsibilities as stipulated in the 

Board Charter and/ or Terms of Reference;
•	 sufficiency and relevance of knowledge and expertise of individual Directors in their respective capacity as members 

of the Board and Board Committees; and
•	 Directors’  character,  experience,  competency,  integrity,  and  time  commitment  to  effectively discharge their roles 

as Directors, including willingness to devote time in performing their roles, apart from attending Board meetings.

In considering candidates for directorship, the Nominating Committee takes into account the following:

•	 the candidates’ skills, knowledge, expertise, experience;
•	 professionalism;
•	 integrity; and
•	 in the case of candidates for the position of Independent Non-Executive Directors, the candidates’ ability to discharge 

such responsibilities/ functions as expected from Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Proposed appointment of member(s) to the Board to fill casual vacancy and proposed re-election/re- appointment of Directors 
seeking re-election/re-appointment at the Annual General Meeting are recommended by the Nominating Committee for 
the Board’ approval or Board’s consideration for tabling at the Annual General Meeting for shareholders’ approval, as the 
case may be.

The Company Secretaries ensure that all appointments of Directors are properly made and that all necessary information 
is obtained from the Directors for the Company’s records and for the purposes of meeting statutory obligation as well as 
obligations arising from the Listing Requirements.

II.	 Remuneration Committee

In order to assist the Board on fair remuneration practices and attracting, retaining and motivating Directors, the Board 
established a Remuneration Committee to review Directors’ remuneration matters and make relevant recommendations to 
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee comprises the following members and their attendance during the financial year ended 31 
December 2016 are as follows:

Name of Director Meeting attended

Tan Wai Foon, Chairperson  
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Director)

2/2

Shalet Marian, member
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

2/2

Muhammad Lukman bin Musa @ Hussain 
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

2/2
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The Board has stipulated specific terms of reference for the Remuneration Committee, which include the following functions:

•	 to review and assess the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors in all forms, with or without independent 
professional advice;

•	 to ensure the levels of remuneration are sufficiently attractive to retain Directors needed to run the Company 
successfully;

•	 to structure the component parts of remuneration so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance and 
to assess the needs of the Company for talent at Board level at a particular time; and

•	 to recommend to the Board of Directors the policy and framework for Directors’ remuneration as well as the 
remuneration packages and terms of service of Executive Directors.

No Director shall take part in decisions involving his/her own remuneration.

The number of Directors of the Company, whose remuneration levels fall within successive bands of RM50,000, is as 
follows:
 

Range of remuneration Company Group

Executive 
Directors

Non-Executive 
Directors

Executive 
Directors

Non-Executive 
Directors

RM50,000 and below - 1 - 1

RM50,000 – RM100,000 - 2 - 4

RM250,000 – RM300,000 - 1 - 1

RM500,000 – RM550,000 - 1 - 1

RM650,000 – RM700,000 1 - 1 -

RM850,000 – RM900,000 - 1 - 1

RM1,400,000 – RM1,450,000 1 - 1 -

Total 2 6 2 8

Note: Successive bands of RM50,000 are not shown entirely as they are not represented.

The aggregate Directors’ remuneration paid or payable to the Directors of the Company in office during the financial year 
by the Group categorised into appropriate components for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:-

Company Fees
(RM’000)

Salaries
(RM’000)

Other
Emoluments

(RM’000)
Bonus

(RM’000)

Benefits-
in-kind

(RM’000)
Total 

(RM’000)

Executive Directors - - - - - -

Non-Executive Directors 307 - 16 - - 323

Total 307 - 16 - - 323

Group Fees
(RM’000)

Salaries
(RM’000)

Other
Emoluments

(RM’000)
Bonus

(RM’000)

Benefits-
in-kind

(RM’000)
Total 

(RM’000)

Executive Directors - 1,833 261 238 40 2,372

Non-Executive Directors 307 - 1,252 81 14 1,654

Total 307 1,833 1,513 319 54 4,026

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 33

PRINCIPLE 3: REINFORCING INDEPENDENCE

In line with Principle 3 of the MCCG 2012, the Board, with the assistance of the Nominating Committee, is required to review 
the independence  of the Company’s  Independent Non-Executive  Directors on an annual basis. The Board adopts the definition 
of an ‘Independent Non-Executive Director’ as provided by the Listing Requirements, and such definition is used as criteria for 
Directors’ independence assessment, which has been carried out at the date of this Statement.

During  the  financial  year  under  review,  the  Company  appointed  another  two  (2)  Independent  Non- Executive Directors, 
i.e., Tan Sri Dato' Seri Abdull Hamid Bin Embong and Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah to further reinforce independence 
within the Board. The Company does not have any Independent Non-Executive Director who has served more than nine (9) years 
at the date of this Statement.

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure a balance 
of power and authority. The Chairman is responsible for ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of the governance process of the 
Board while the Chief Executive Officer holds the primary  executive  responsibility  for  the  Group’s  business  performance  
and  manages  the  Group  in accordance with the strategies and policies approved by the Board, leading Executive Directors in 
making and implementing the day-to-day decisions on the business operations.

PRINCIPLE 4: FOSTERING COMMITMENT

The Board meets at least four (4) times annually, with the meetings scheduled well in advance at the beginning of each financial 
year to facilitate the Directors in managing their meeting plans. Additional meeting are convened when urgent and important 
decisions need to be made between scheduled meetings.

At the quarterly Board meetings, the Board reviews the business performance of the Group and discusses major operational and 
financial issues. All pertinent issues discussed at Board meetings in arriving at decisions and conclusions are recorded by the 
Company Secretaries by way of minutes of meetings. During the financial year under review, the number of Board of Directors’ 
meeting attended by each Director is as follows:

Name of Director Meetings attended

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Abdull Hamid bin Embong
(Appointed on 20 July 2016)

2/2

Gary Thomas Brown 5/5

Chan Kien Sing 4/5

Tan Wai Foon 5/5

Ho Meng 5/5

Tan U-Ming 5/5

Shalet Marian 5/5

Muhammad Lukman bin Musa @ Hussain 5/5

Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah
(Appointed on 10 February 2017)

N/A

Hishammudin Bin Hasan 
(Appointed on 10 February 2017)

N/A

The Board has also stipulated in its Board Charter, the need for Directors to notify the Chairman before accepting new directorships 
outside the Group and indicating the time that will be spent on the new directorship. Similarly, the Chairman of the Board shall 
also do likewise, and notify the Board as a whole, before taking up any additional appointment of directorships. This practice is 
to ensure that Directors devote sufficient time to meet the Company’s needs and in the discharge of their fiduciary and leadership 
roles.

The Board is mindful that continuous education is vital for Board members to gain insight into the state of the  economy,  
technological advances, regulatory updates and management  strategies to enhance the Board’s skill sets and knowledge in 
discharging its responsibilities.
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All Directors appointed to the Board, apart from attending the Mandatory Accreditation Programme of Bursa  Securities,  have  
also  attended  other  relevant  trainings,  conferences  and seminars  organised  by relevant regulatory and professional bodies to 
be apprised of latest developments and changes to regulatory requirements that may affect their roles as Directors of the Company.

The continuous education programmes attended  by the Directors during  the financial year ended 31 December 2016 comprise 
the following:

Name of Director Continuous education programmes attended

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Abdull  
Hamid bin Embong 
(Appointed on 20 July 2016)

-	 Mandatory Accreditation Programme (“MAP”)

Gary Thomas Brown -	 Sustainability Reporting Briefing
-	 Breakfast Talk from the Executive Chairman of Area Management Sdn. Bhd.
-	 Sustainability  Reporting, Changes  in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 

Security and Succession Planning
-	 Corporate Governance Breakfast Series with Directors entitled “The Strategy, 

the Leadership, the Stakeholders and the Board”
-	 Seminar  of "How to  increase Productivity  through Innovation"
-	 Malaysia Focus Day 7-Eleven with Nomura
-	 ASEAN C-Suite Forum 2016
-	 Advocacy Session   on  Management Discussion   & Analysis for Chief Executive 

Officers and Chief Financial Officers of Listed Issuers
-	 Malaysia Corporate Day 2016
-	 CLSA Investors’ Forum 2016
-	 AffinHwang-Daiwa Malaysia Corporate Day 2016
-	 The evolution of retail in Asia Pacific: Innovation and disruption
-	 Sustainability Reporting Workshop with AGV Consultants
-	 Asia Rising Dragons 1x1 Forum 2016
-	 ASEAN Stars of the Next Decade 2016: Multi-Sector Champions

Chan Kien Sing -	 Sustainability  Reporting, Changes  in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 
Security and Succession Planning

-	 Sustainability Engagement Series for Directors/ Chief Executive Officer
-	 Directors as Gatekeepers of Market Participants
-	 Business Challenges and Regulatory Expectations
-	 Risk Oversight and Compliance – Action Plan for Board of Directors
-	 Current and Emerging Regulatory Issues in the Capital Market
-	 MIA Conference 2016

Ho Meng -	 Fraud Risk Management Workshop
-	 Sustainability Reporting Briefing
-	 Sustainability Reporting, Changes in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 

Security and Succession Planning
-	 The Interplay between Corporate Governance, Non- Financial Information and 

Investment Decision
 -	 Corporate Governance Breakfast Series with Directors entitled “How to 

Leverage on AGMs for Better Engagement with Shareholders”
-	 Corporate Governance Breakfast Series with Directors entitled “Anti-Corruption 

and Integrity – Foundation of Corporate Sustainability”
Tan U-Ming -	 Comprehending Financial Statements for Directors and Senior Management

-	 The Annual General Meeting – A Practical Insight and Managing Shareholders’ 
Expectations

-	 Sustainability Reporting, Changes in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 
Security and Succession Planning

-	 Wild Digital Conference 2016
-	 Digital Future – Are you IN or OUT
-	 Sustainability Reporting Workshop
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Name of Director Continuous education programmes attended
Tan Wai Foon -	 Sustainability  Reporting, Changes  in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 

Security and Succession Planning
-	 ASEAN C-Suite Forum 2016
-	 Corporate Directors Onboarding Programme
-	 CLSA Investor Forum 2016

Shalet Marian -	 Sustainability  Reporting, Changes  in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 
Security and Succession Planning

-	 Interplay between Corporate Governance, Non- Financial Information and 
Investment Decision

-	 Corporate Directors Onboarding Programme – Updates on Companies Bill 
2015 and its implications to Directors

-	 Corporate Governance Breakfast Series with Directors entitled “How to 
Leverage on AGMs for Better Engagement with Shareholders”

Muhammad Lukman bin Musa  
@ Hussain

-	 Sustainability  Reporting, Changes  in Main Market Listing Requirements, Cyber 
Security and Succession Planning

-	 Bursa Risk Management Programme entitled “I Am Ready To Manage Risk”
-	 Private Equity Forum 2016 – The Impetus for Growth and Motivation
-	 Trans	Pacific Partnership Agreement and its Implication
-	 Intellectual Disclosure: Budget 2017
-	 Malaysian Capitalism Conference

Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah and Encik Hishammudin Bin Hasan, who were appointed on 10 February 2017 will attend 
the MAP within the period prescribed by Bursa Securities and from time to time, such other training programme that will aid them 
to discharge their duties as Directors of the Company.

The Company Secretaries normally circulate the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements from time to time for the Board’s 
reference and brief the Board on the updates, where applicable. 

PRINCIPLE 5: UPHOLDING INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

IIt is the Board’s commitment to provide and present a clear, balanced and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s financial 
performance and prospects at the end of each reporting period and financial year, primarily through the quarterly announcement  
of the Group’s  results  to Bursa  Securities, the annual financial statements of the Group and Company as well as the reports of 
the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer’s review of operations in the Annual Report.

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
the Company as at the end of the reporting period and of their results and cash flows for the period then ended.

To assist in the discharge of its duties on financial reporting, the Board has established an Audit Committee, comprising wholly 
Non-Executive Directors with a majority of Independent Directors, chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director. The 
composition of the Audit Committee, including its roles and responsibilities, are set out in the Audit Committee Report on pages 
41 to 43 of this Annual Report. One of the key responsibilities of the Audit Committee in its specific Terms of Reference is to 
ensure that the financial statements of the Group and Company comply with applicable approved financial reporting standards in 
Malaysia and provisions of the Companies Act 1965 and Companies Act 2016. Such financial statements comprise the quarterly 
financial report announced to Bursa Securities and the annual statutory financial statements.

The Directors are satisfied that in preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2016, the Group has used appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently. The Directors are also of 
the view that relevant applicable approved financial reporting standards have been followed in the preparation of these financial 
statements.

The Board understands its role in upholding the integrity of financial reporting by the Company. Accordingly, the Audit Committee, 
which assists the Board in overseeing the financial reporting process of the Company, has formalised a Non-Audit Services Policy 
governing the types of non-audit services permitted to be provided by the External Auditors. To address the threats faced by the 
External Auditors, including self-review and self-interest threats in relation to the independence and objectivity of the External 
Auditors, the Non-Audit Services Policy provides for safeguards which may be considered, including having an engagement team 
different from the external audit team to provide the non-audit services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT



36 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

In assessing the independence of External Auditors, the Audit Committee obtains confirmation from the External Auditors, 
indicating that they are, and have been, independent throughout the conduct of the audit engagement with the Company in 
accordance with the independence criteria set out by the International Federation of Accountants and the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants.

The Audit Committee, after due deliberations, has recommended the reappointment of Messrs. Ernst and Young as External 
Auditors for the financial year ending 31 December 2017. The Board at its meeting held on 11 April 2017 approved the Audit 
Committee’s recommendation. The re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst and Young will be presented for shareholders’ approval at the 
forthcoming Fourth Annual General Meeting.

Principle 6: Recognising and Managing Risks

The Board regards risk management and internal controls as an integral part of the overall management processes. As such, the 
Board has established an Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework to identify and manage significant risks faced in the 
Group’s operations. For the effective implementation of ERM, a Risk Management Committee, headed by the Chief Executive 
Officer, has been established, comprising key management personnel from the respective divisions. The Risk Management 
Committee is tasked to report to the Audit Committee on key risks identified and the implementation of action plans to mitigate 
the risks. The Board is apprised, via the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee, of the Group’s risk profile, 
including action plans to address significant risks.

The Board has outsourced its internal audit function to a professional firm, namely KPMG Management & Risk Consulting Sdn. 
Bhd. The internal audit function reports directly to the Audit Committee on the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of 
internal controls. The internal audit function is independent of Company,  Board and Management.  The scope of work covered 
by the internal audit function for the financial year under review is furnished in the Audit Committee Report as set out on pages 
41 to 43 of this Annual Report. The internal audit carried out by the internal audit function is guided by internal auditing standards 
promulgated by the Institute of Internal Auditors Inc, a globally recognized professional body for internal auditors. The cost 
incurred on the internal audit function for the financial year under review amounted to approximately RM62,400.

Principle 7: Ensuring Timely and High Quality Disclosure

The Board is aware of the need to establish corporate disclosure policies and procedures to enable comprehensive, accurate 
and timely disclosures relating to the Company and its subsidiaries to be made to the regulators, shareholders and stakeholders. 
Accordingly, as of the date of this Statement, the Board has formalised pertinent corporate disclosure policies and procedures to 
streamline information disclosure practices.

It is also required of the Directors and employees, who are in possession of price-sensitive information on the Company which 
is not publicly available, and who deal in the securities of the Company, to notify the Company within a specific timeframe as 
prescribed by the Listing Requirements.

The Company’s corporate website at www.7eleven.com.my  serves as a key communication channel for shareholders, investors, 
members of the public and other stakeholders to obtain up-to-date information on the Group’s activities, financial results, major 
strategic development and other matters affecting stakeholders’ interests.

The Board has earmarked a dedicated section for corporate governance on the Company’s website, where information on the 
Company’s announcements to the regulators, the Board Charter, rights of shareholders, and the Company’s Annual Report may 
be accessed.

Principle 8: Strengthening Relationship between the Company and its Shareholders

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company serves as the principal forum that provides opportunities for shareholders 
to raise questions pertaining to issues in the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, and corporate developments in the 
Group, the resolutions being proposed and concerns over the Group’s businesses, to the Board for clarification. The Chairman as 
well as the Chief Executive Officer, and the External Auditors, if so required, will respond to shareholders’ questions during the 
meeting.
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Pursuant to the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, any resolution set out in the notice of any general meeting, or in any 
notice of resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at any general meeting, must be voted by poll. 
Hence, voting for all the resolutions as set out in the forthcoming and future general meetings will be conducted as such. An 
Independent scrutineer will be appointed to validate the votes cast at the general meetings.

The Notice of AGM is circulated to shareholders at least twenty-one (21) days before the date of the meeting to enable them to 
go through the Annual Report and papers supporting the resolutions proposed.

The Board recognises the importance of being transparent and accountable to the Company’s investors. The Company will hold 
group and individual discussions with analysts, institutional shareholders, and investment communities, at their request, with the 
view to fostering greater understanding of the business of the Group.  The various  channels  of communications  are through  the 
quarterly  announcements  on financial results to Bursa Securities, relevant announcements and circulars, when necessary, the 
Annual and Extraordinary General Meetings and through the Group’s website at www.7eleven.com.my where shareholders can 
access corporate information, Annual Reports, press releases, financial information, and Company announcements. To maintain 
a high level of transparency and to effectively address any issues or concerns, the Group has a dedicated electronic mail, i.e. 
ir@7eleven.com.my to which stakeholders can direct their queries or concerns.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad (“7-Eleven” or the “Company”) is committed to 
maintaining a sound system of risk management and internal control in the Group (comprising the Company and its subsidiaries) 
and is pleased to provide the following Risk Management and Internal Control Statement (the “Statement”), which outlines the 
nature and scope of risk management and internal control of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. For the 
purpose of disclosure, the Board has taken into consideration the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control: Guidelines 
for Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Guidelines”), a publication issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) 
on the issuance of Risk Management and Internal Control Statement pursuant to Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Securities.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system of internal control and the proper identification and 
management of risks affecting the Group’s operations in order to safeguard shareholders’ investments. Accordingly, the Board 
affirms its overall responsibility for the Group’s system of risk management and internal control, and for reviewing the adequacy 
and operating effectiveness of the said system. The system covers not only financial but operational and compliance risks and 
the relevant controls designed to manage the said risks. In view of the limitations inherent in any system of risk management 
and internal control, the system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s corporate 
objectives. The system can, therefore, only provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance, against material misstatement or loss.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The Board believes that risk management is vital to the Group’s operational sustainability and the enhancement of shareholders’ 
value. The Enterprise Risk Management (“ERM”) framework for the Group, focuses on the Group’s core business operations and 
primarily comprised the following:

∙	 A formalised structured process on risk identification, evaluation, controls, monitoring and reporting; and
∙	 Risk management policy and guidelines which have been adopted by the Board.

The Group has established a Risk Management Committee (“RMC”), chaired by the Chief Executive Officer with the following 
terms of reference:

∙	 communicating the Board’s vision, strategy, policy, responsibilities and reporting lines on risk management to the Group’s 
personnel;

∙	 identifying and communicating to the Board, the critical risks the Group faces, their changes and Management’s action 
plans to address the risks;

∙	 performing risk oversight activities and reviewing the risk profile of the Group as well as organisational performance; 
∙	 reporting on a quarterly basis to the Board on the risk situations and status;
∙	 setting performance measures for the Group insofar as risk management is concerned; and
∙	 providing guidance to the business divisions on the Group’s risk appetite and other criteria which, when exceeded, trigger 

an obligation to report upward to the RMC and Board.

During the financial year under review, the RMC Meeting held a total of 12 meetings to assess and evaluate risks that may impede 
the Group from achieving its objectives, as well as develop action plans to mitigate such risks. On a quarterly basis, the RMC will 
update the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors on the risk management activities.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

The key elements of the Group’s internal control framework are described below:

(A)	 Limits of authority and responsibility

A process of hierarchical reporting has been established which provides for a documented trail of accountability. This 
includes clearly defined lines and limits of authority, responsibility and accountability which have been established through 
the Group’s organisational structures and authority limits, including specific matters requiring the Board’s approval; and

(b)	 Planning, monitoring and reporting

The following internal control processes have been established:

∙ 	 Strategic Business Planning Processes

	 Appropriate business plans are developed where the Group’s business objectives, strategies and targets are articulated 
to the Board. Business planning and budgeting are undertaken annually to establish plans and targets against which 
performance is monitored on an ongoing basis;

∙ 	 Documented Policies and Procedures

	 Internal policies and procedures, which are set out in standard operating manuals, covering core operational areas of 
the Group, are maintained to streamline activities and are subject to review as considered necessary;

∙ 	 Performance Monitoring and Reporting

	 The Group’s management team monitors and reviews the Group’s financial and operational performance on a 
monthly basis, including monitoring and reporting of performance against the operating plans. The management 
team formulates and communicates action plans to address areas of concern;

∙ 	 Financial Performance Review

	 The quarterly and annual results of the Group are reviewed by the Audit Committee which recommends to the Board 
for approval before release of the same to the regulators whilst the full year financial statements are audited by the 
External Auditors before their issuance to the regulators and shareholders;

∙ 	 Safeguarding of Assets 

Sufficient insurance coverage and physical safeguards over major assets of the Group are in place to ensure that the 
assets are adequately insured against calamities and/ or theft that may result in material losses to the Group.

This internal control framework has been in place for the financial year under review and up to the date of approval of this 
Statement for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company.
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group outsourced its internal audit function to an independent professional firm to assess the adequacy and integrity of 
the Group’s system of internal control. The internal auditors execute the internal audit based on a risk-based internal audit plan 
approved by the Audit Committee before commencement of work. Its scope of work covers the assessment of the adequacy and 
integrity of the Group’s system of internal control for selected processes.

For the financial year under review, the internal auditors conducted two cycles of audit and reported directly to the Audit 
Committee on improvement measures pertaining to internal controls, including follow up on the status of Management’s 
implementation of recommendations raised in previous reports. The reports were tabled to the Audit Committee, who reviewed 
the observations, including Management’s action plans to address the concerns raised by the internal auditors. External auditors’ 
management letters which incorporated Management’s comments provided assurance that matters relating to control procedures 
on financial reporting have been brought to the attention of the Audit Committee. 

The Group also has an in-house internal audit team that carries out operational audit to assess the extent of compliance with the 
Group’s operations manual by personnel. Observations raised are reported to the Chief Executive Officer, including action plans 
devised by operations management.

In addressing the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the Group’s system of risk management and internal control, the Audit 
Committee reports to the Board its activities, significant results, findings and the necessary recommendations for improvement.

ADEQUACY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE GROUP’S RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board has received assurance in writing from the Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director that the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems are operating adequately and effectively, in all material aspects, for the financial year 
under review and up to the date of approval of this Statement for inclusion in the Annual Report of the Company.

BOARD’S COMMENTARY ON THE SYSTEM OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is of the view that there has been no material breakdown or weakness in the system of risk management and internal 
control of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 that may result in a significant loss to the Group. The Board 
continues to take pertinent measures to improve the Group’s risk management and internal control system in meeting the Group’s 
strategic objectives.

LIMITED ASSURANCE PROCEDURES PERFORMED ON THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The external auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, have performed limited assurance procedures on this Statement on Risk Management 
and Internal Control for inclusion in the Annual Report of 7-Eleven for the year ended 31 December 2016 and have reported to 
the Board that nothing had come to their attention that caused them to believe that this Statement is not prepared, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the disclosure required by paragraphs 41 and 42 of the Statement on Risk Management and Internal 
Control - Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers to be set out, nor is this Statement factually inaccurate.

This Statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 11 April 2017.
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In line with the Main Market Listing Requirements (“Listing Requirements”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”), 
the Board has established an Audit Committee to assist the Board in discharging its statutory duties and responsibilities relating to 
accounting and reporting practices. The Terms of Reference of Audit Committee is publicly available on the Company’s website 
at www.7eleven.com.my.

Composition and Meeting Attendance

The composition of the Audit Committee and the attendance of its members at the five (5) meetings held during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Name of Director Meetings attended

Muhammad Lukman bin Musa @ Hussain, Chairman (Independent Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Shalet Marian, member (Independent Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Tan Wai Foon, member (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) 5/5

Membership

The Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Board from amongst the Directors and shall comprise no fewer than three (3) 
members all of whom must be Non-Executive Directors with a majority of them being Independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Audit Committee shall include at least one (1) Director who is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants or, 
alternatively, a Director who has at least three (3) years working experience and has passed the examination specified in Part I of 
the First Schedule of the Accountants Act, 1967 or is a member of one of the associations specified in Part II of the said Schedule 
or fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Securities.  The members of the Audit Committee shall elect 
a chairman from amongst their number who shall be an Independent Non-Executive Director.

In the event of any vacancy in the Audit Committee which results in a breach in the Listing Requirements, the vacancy must 
be filled within three (3) months. The terms of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members shall 
be reviewed by the Board annually to determine whether such Audit Committee and members have carried out their duties in 
accordance with their terms of reference.

Summary of Work of Audit Committee

The summary of work carried out by the Audit Committee, during the financial year and up to the date of this Report, in meeting 
its responsibilities, are as follows:
 
(a) 	Financial Reporting

∙	 reviewed the annual audited financial statements and principal matters arising from audit with the External Auditors. The 
key areas of focus are the following:-

∙	  any change in accounting policies and practices;
∙	  significant adjustments arising from the audit;
∙	  going concern assumption;
∙	  compliance with accounting standards and other legal requirements;
∙	  significant matters highlighted in the financial statements; and
∙	  significant judgements made by the Management.

∙	 reviewed the quarterly financial results  before recommending  of the same  to  the Board  for consideration and approval 
for release to Bursa Securities;

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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∙	 The dates the Audit Committee met during the financial year to deliberate on financial reporting matters as detailed below:

Date of meetings Financial Reporting Statements Reviewed

24 February 2016 Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Company and its Group of 
Companies for the fourth quarter ended 31 December 2015

14 April 2016 Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, Audit 
Committee Report and Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control for the 
Board’s approval and disclosure in the Company’s Annual Report 2015

25 May 2016 Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Company and its Group of 
Companies for the first quarter ended 31 March 2016

24 August 2016 Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Company and its Group of 
Companies for the second quarter ended 30 June 2016

23 November 2016 Unaudited quarterly report on consolidated results of the Company and its Group of 
Companies for the third quarter ended 30 September 2016

∙	 review of the Budget for the financial year ending 31 December 2017. 

(b) 	External Audit

∙	 reviewed, discussed and approved the External Auditors’ scope of works, key areas of audit emphasis, audit approach and 
timetable;

∙	 reviewed, discussed and assessed all significant matters highlighted by the Internal and External Auditors on financial 
reporting and operating issues;

∙	 met up with the External Auditors twice without the presence of Executive Directors and Management on 24 February 
2016 and 14 April 2016; and

∙	 reviewed the independence and effectiveness  of External Auditors for re-appointment for the financial year ended 31 
December 2016.

(c) 	Internal Audit

	 The internal audit function is  outsourced  to  an independent professional firm, namely KPMG Management & Risk Consulting 
Sdn. Bhd. (“KPMG”), which reports directly to the Audit Committee. The internal audit function carried out its work, taking 
into consideration the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing as promulgated by the Institute 
of Internal Auditors, Inc.

	 During the year, the Audit Committee had undertaken the following in respect of internal audit:-

∙	 reviewed the risk assessment report prepared by and receipt of the update on the Risk Management activities carried 
out by the Risk Management Committee, including the Group’s risk profile, for identification, evaluation and control of 
principal  business risks faced in the Group’s operation for onward reporting to and monitoring by the Audit Committee 
and the Board such that risks are being managed to acceptable levels based on the risk appetite of the Board;

∙	 reviewed internal audit report and including Management’s response to the observations raised by the internal audit 
function, including action plans to be implemented by Management on the issues reported;

∙	 reviewed the theft by employee  cases of above RM10,000 per incident; and
∙	 reviewed the incidents of whistle-blowing.

	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the internal audit function had covered the areas of store operation, 
information technology, marketing and construction  and maintenance. The following activities were carried out:-

∙	 tabled for the Audit Committee’s consideration and approval of the internal audit plan and the underlying scope of work 
before commencement of internal audit;

∙	 carried out internal audit testing on the Group’s compliance with its policies and procedures as well as relevant rules and 
regulations;

∙	 reviewed and assessed the adequacy of internal controls deployed by Management on the areas of coverage in the internal 
audit; reported the outcome of the internal audit by way of a formal internal audit report, highlighting the observations and 
recommendations for Management’s consideration in improving the Group’s internal control system; and

∙	 followed up and reported the status  of implementation by Management  on recommendations highlighted in the previous 
internal audit reports.

The costs incurred for the internal audit function in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to 
RM62,400.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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(d)	Annual Report/Circular

∙ 	 review of all recurrent and related party transactions of the Group;

∙	 review of the Audit Committee Report and Statement of Risk Management and Internal Control in respect of the financial 
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016; and

∙	 review of the Circular  to Shareholders in relation to the Proposed Renewal of Existing  and New Shareholders’ Mandate 
for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading nature.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement 
on Preparation of Annual Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Companies Act 1965 to prepare financial statements for each financial year which provide a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial year, and of the results and 
cash flow of the Group and of the Company for the financial year.

The Board, after due consideration, is satisfied that the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 has 
been prepared adopting appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently and made judgement and estimation 
that are reasonable and prudent. The Board also considers that relevant approved accounting standards have been followed and 
confirms that the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Directors also have responsibility to ensure that the Company keeps accounting records which disclose reasonable accuracy 
at any time of the financial position of the Group and of the Company and which enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 1965 and Financial Reporting Standards in Malaysia.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 12 to the financial statements.

RESULTS

Group
RM’000

Company
RM’000

Net profit for the financial year 52,173 51,339

Profit attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 52,173 51,339

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed in the financial 
statements.

In the opinion of the directors, the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDENDS

The amount of dividends declared and paid by the Company since 31 December 2015 were as follows:

RM’000

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2016

Interim single-tier dividend of 2.3% on 1,110,385,000# ordinary shares,  
declared on 27 February 2017 and payable on 28 April 2017 25,539

Special single-tier dividend of 2.4% on 1,110,385,000# ordinary shares, 
declared on 27 February 2017 and payable on 28 April 2017 26,649

52,188

#	 Dividends are distributable to the holders of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 14 April 2017 (being the entitlement 
date), net of 123,000,000 treasury shares. 

The financial statements for the current year do not reflect the above mentioned dividends. These said dividends will be accounted 
for in equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 December 2017.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend in respect of the current financial year ended 31 December 
2016.

DIRECTORS' REPORT



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 47

DIRECTORS' REPORT

DIRECTORS

The names of the directors of the Company in office since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report are:

Shalet Marian
Chan Kien Sing
Ho Meng*
Tan U-Ming*
Tan Wai Foon
Muhammad Lukman bin Musa @ Hussain 
Gary Thomas Brown
Tan Sri Dato' Seri Abdull Hamid Bin Embong (Appointed on 20 July 2016)
Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah (Appointed on 10 February 2017) 
Hishammudin Bin Hasan (Appointed on 10 February 2017)

*	 Directors of the Company and subsidiaries

The name of the directors of the subsidiaries of the Company since the beginning of the financial year to the date of this report, 
not including those directors listed above are:

Dato' Seri Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini
Mohamed Shah Bin Kadir
Dato' Sri Azlan Meah Bin Hj. Ahmed Meah
Derek Chin Chee Seng
Hor Kar Shan

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during that year, did there subsist any arrangement to which the Company 
was a party, whereby the directors might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than benefits 
included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors or the fixed salary of a full-time 
employee of the Company or its related corporations as shown in Note 6 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made 
by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which 
he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in Note 29 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

According to the register of directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965, the 
interests of directors in office at the end of the financial year in shares in the Company or its related corporations during the 
financial year were as follows:

Number of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
Name of director 1.1.2016 Acquired Sold 31.12.2016

Direct interest:
Ordinary shares of the Company

Shalet Marian 200,000 - - 200,000
Chan Kien Sing 100,000 - - 100,000
Ho Meng 90,000 - - 90,000
Tan U-Ming 100,000 - - 100,000
Muhammad Lukman bin Musa @ Hussain 120,000 - - 120,000
Gary Thomas Brown 100,000 - - 100,000

Other than as disclosed above, the other director in office at the end of the financial year had no interest in shares in the Company 
or its related corporations during or at the end of the financial year.
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TREASURY SHARES

During the financial year, the Company repurchased 82,500,000 of its issued ordinary shares from the open market at an average 
price of RM1.59 per share. The total consideration paid for the acquisition including transaction costs was RM131,712,000. The 
shares purchased are being held as treasury shares in accordance with Section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965. Further details 
on treasury shares are as disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

(a)	 Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were 
made out, the directors took reasonable steps:

(i)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of provision 
for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate 
provision had been made for doubtful debts; and 

(ii)	 to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records in 
the ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

(b)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render: 

(i)	 the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts inadequate to any substantial 
extent; and 

(ii)	 the values attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

(c)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which would render 
adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate. 

(d)	 At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading. 

(e)	 At the date of this report, there does not exist: 

(i)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 
secures the liabilities of any other person; or 

(ii)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year. 

(f)	 In the opinion of the directors: 

(i)	 no contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period 
of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the 
Company to meet its obligations when they fall due; and 

(ii)	 no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the 
Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made.

Auditors and auditors' remuneration

The auditors, Ernst & Young, have expressed their willingness to continue in office. 

Auditors' remuneration are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 11 April 2017.

Gary Thomas Brown							       Tan U-Ming

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 251(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016

We, Gary Thomas Brown and Tan U-Ming, being two of the directors of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad, do hereby state that, 
in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 53 to 102 are drawn up in accordance with 
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 
December 2016 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

In the opinion of the directors, the information set out in Note 37 to the financial statements on page 103 has been prepared 
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the 
Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of 
Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 11 April 2017.

Gary Thomas Brown							       Tan U-Ming

I, Lim Heng Seong, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad, 
do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 53 to 103 are in my opinion 
correct, and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the 
Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
the abovenamed Lim Heng Seong at
Kuala Lumpur in the Wilayah Persekutuan
on 11 April 2017								        Lim Heng Seong

Before me,

STATUTORY DECLARATION
Pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD  
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 31 December 2016 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements 
of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 53 to 102.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and 
of the Company as at 31 December 2016, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and 
Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants ("By-Laws") and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. For the matter described below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors'responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of 
our report, including in relation to the matter described below. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures 
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below, provide the basis of our audit opinion on the 
accompanying financial statements.

1.	 Recognition of rebates and incentives income from vendors

	 (Refer to Notes 2.25, 3.2(c), 5 and 15 to the financial statements)

	 The Group receives various types of allowance in the form of rebates and incentives from its vendors. These allowances 
contribute significantly to the Group’s profit before tax. During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Group 
has recognised rebates and incentives income amounting to RM163,977,000 of which majority has been received and the 
balance of RM43,378,000 is receivable as at 31 December 2016. Recognition of rebates and incentives income required 
the Group’s fulfilment of its obligations under the vendor agreements. We focused on this area because the recognition of 
rebates and incentives income requires, to some extent, judgement from management concerning the nature and level of 
fulfilment of the Group’s obligations under the vendor agreements.

	 We have carried out procedures to understand and test management’s controls around the completeness and accuracy 
of the source data required for the computation of these rebates and incentives. We also reviewed and agreed the rebates 
and incentives during the year to contractual evidence on a sample basis. For the rebates and incentives receivable as at 
31 December 2016, amounts are either recalculated by us based on contractual terms confirmed by vendors or reconciled 
to post year-end settlements with vendors. In addition, to evaluate the reliability of management’s estimates, we reviewed 
subsequent collections of prior year’s rebates and incentives income receivables.



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 51

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD  

(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA)

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors' Report thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors' report, but 
does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our auditors' report thereon, which we obtained 
prior to the date of this auditors' report, and the other information included in the Group's 2016 Annual Report, which is expected 
to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the directors' report that we obtained prior to the date of this auditors' report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this directors' report, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

When we read the other information included in the Group's 2016 Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors of the Company and take appropriate action.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards 
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud of error.

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's and 
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

∙	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

∙ 	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's and the Company's 
internal control. 

∙	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 
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∙	 Conclude on the appropriateness of directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group's or the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group 
and of the Company or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

∙	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

∙	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine the matter that was of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this 
matter in our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Reporting Responsibilities

The supplementary information set out in Note 37 on page 103 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary 
information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in 
the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute 
of Accountants ("MIA Guidance") and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary 
information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

Other matters

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the Companies Act 2016 
in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

ERNST & YOUNG								Kua        Choo Kai
AF: 0039									        No. 2030/03/18(J)
Chartered Accountants							       Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
11 April 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD  
(INCORPORATED IN MALAYSIA)
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Group Company

Note 2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Revenue 4 2,103,367 2,006,284 52,800 59,191

Cost of sales (1,456,798) (1,387,965) - -

Gross profit 646,569 618,319 52,800 59,191

Other operating income 115,518 109,675 1,210 1,374

Selling and distribution expenses (596,150) (563,382) - -

Administrative and other 
operating expenses (92,530) (86,457) (780) (746)

Profit from operations 5 73,407 78,155 53,230 59,819

Finance costs 7 (2,590) (313) (1,448) (127)

Profit before tax 70,817 77,842 51,782 59,692

Income tax expense 8 (18,644) (22,041) (443) (1,092)

Net profit for the financial year,  
representing total comprehensive  
income for the financial year 52,173 55,801 51,339 58,600

Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 52,173 55,801 51,339 58,600

Basic/diluted earnings per share (sen) 36 4.50 4.55

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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Group Company

Note 2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 318,801 303,608 - -
Investment property 10 212 217 - -
Intangible assets 11 35,822 21,232 - -
Investments in subsidiary companies 12 - - 1,378,248 1,378,248
Other investments 13 1 1 - -

354,836 325,058 1,378,248 1,378,248

Current assets
Inventories 14 263,948 180,705 - -
Sundry receivables 15 92,003 105,814 52,071 73,691

Tax recoverable 13,268 5,605 788 253
Cash and bank balances 16 49,450 126,487 9,798 43,339

418,669 418,611 62,657 117,283

Total assets 773,505 743,669 1,440,905 1,495,531

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity  

holders of the Company
Share capital 17 123,338 123,338 123,338 123,338
Share premium 18 1,361,800 1,361,800 1,361,800 1,361,800
Treasury shares 19 (190,625) (58,913) (190,625) (58,913)
Capital reorganisation deficit 20 (1,343,248) (1,343,248) - -
Retained profits 21 83,924 87,217 61,351 65,478

Total equity 35,189 170,194 1,355,864 1,491,703

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 22 6,955 5,775 - -
Borrowings 23 25,219 132 - -
Deferred tax liability 25 15,818 8,760 - -

47,992 14,667 - -

Current liabilities
Provisions 22 158 701 - -
Borrowings 23 90,473 1,946 - -
Trade payables 26 461,506 410,980 - -
Other payables 27 138,168 145,161 85,041 3,828
Taxation 19 20 - -

690,324 558,808 85,041 3,828

Total liabilities 738,316 573,475 85,041 3,828

Total equity and liabilities 773,505 743,669 1,440,905 1,495,531

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Group

Share
capital

RM’000
(Note 17)

Share 
premium
RM’000

(Note 18)

Treasury
shares

RM’000
(Note 19)

Capital
reorganisation

deficit
RM’000

(Note 20)

Retained
profits^
RM’000 

(Note 21)

Total
equity 

RM’000

At 1 January 2015 123,338 1,361,800 - (1,343,248) 94,319 236,209
Total comprehensive income - - - - 55,801 55,801

Transactions with owners
Acquisition of treasury shares - - (58,913) - - (58,913)
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 28) - - - - (62,903) (62,903)

Total transactions with owners - - (58,913) - (62,903) (121,816)

At 31 December 2015 123,338 1,361,800 (58,913) (1,343,248) 87,217 170,194

At 1 January 2016 123,338 1,361,800 (58,913) (1,343,248) 87,217 170,194
Total comprehensive income - - - - 52,173 52,173

Transactions with owners
Acquisition of treasury shares - - (131,712) - - (131,712)
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 28) - - - - (55,466) (55,466)

Total transactions with owners - - (131,712) - (55,466) (187,178)

At 31 December 2016 123,338 1,361,800 (190,625) (1,343,248) 83,924 35,189

^	 Distributable
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Company

Share
capital

RM’000
(Note 17)

Share 
premium
RM’000

(Note 18)

Treasury
shares

RM’000
(Note 19)

Retained
profits^ 
RM’000

(Note 21)

Total
equity 

RM’000

At 1 January 2015 123,338 1,361,800 - 69,781 1,554,919
Total comprehensive income - - - 58,600 58,600

Transaction with owners
Acquisition of treasury shares - - (58,913) - (58,913)
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 28) - - - (62,903) (62,903)
Total transactions with owners - - (58,913) (62,903) (121,816)

At 31 December 2015 123,338 1,361,800 (58,913) 65,478 1,491,703

At 1 January 2016 123,338 1,361,800 (58,913) 65,478 1,491,703
Total comprehensive income - - - 51,339 51,339

Transactions with owners
Acquisition of treasury shares - - (131,712) - (131,712)
Dividends on ordinary shares (Note 28) - - - (55,466) (55,466)

Total transactions with owners - - (131,712) (55,466) (187,178)

At 31 December 2016 123,338 1,361,800 (190,625) 61,351 1,355,864

^	 Distributable

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 

and other receivables 2,231,168 2,090,548 489 -
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (2,136,187) (1,938,583) (4,350) (782)

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 94,981 151,965 (3,861) (782)
Interest paid (2,590) (313) (1,448) (127)
Tax paid (19,250) (24,805) (978) (1,361)

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities 73,141 126,847 (6,287) (2,270)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (65,712) (114,633) - -
Purchase of intangible assets (12,697) (10,943) - -

Proceeds from disposal of 
property, plant and equipment 15 2,955 - -

Movement in intercompany balances - - 89,124 (12,285)
Dividend income received - - 70,000 77,000
Interest received 1,780 5,305 800 2,936

Net cash (used in)/generated 
from investing activities (76,614) (117,316) 159,924 67,651

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid on ordinary shares (55,466) (62,903) (55,466) (62,903)
Acquisition of treasury shares (131,712) (58,913) (131,712) (58,913)
Proceeds from banker's acceptances 225,653 - - -
Repayment of banker's acceptances (160,140) - - -
Proceeds from revolving credit 20,000 - - -
Proceeds from term loan 30,000 - - -
Repayment of term loans - (819) - -
Repayment of hire purchase and  

finance lease liabilities (1,899) (4,519) - -

Net cash used in financing activities (73,564) (127,154) (187,178) (121,816)

Net decrease in cash and 
cash equivalents (77,037) (117,623) (33,541) (56,435)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 126,487 244,110 43,339 99,774

Cash and cash equivalents at 
31 December (Note 16) 49,450 126,487 9,798 43,339

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016

1.	 CORPORATE INFORMATION

7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad ("the Company") is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in 
Malaysia. The registered office of the Company is located at Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar 
Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur. The principal place of business of the Company is located at Level 
3A, Podium Block, Plaza Berjaya, No.12, Jalan Imbi, 55100 Kuala Lumpur. 

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. 

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in Note 12. 

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

The immediate and ultimate holding companies are Berjaya Retail Berhad ("BRetail") and HQZ Credit Sdn. Bhd. ("HQZ") 
respectively, both of which are incorporated in Malaysia. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the 
directors on 11 April 2017. 

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards ("MFRS") as issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. 

The financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 
below. 

The financial statements of the Group and of the Company are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM") and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand ("RM'000") except when otherwise indicated.

2.2	 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows: 

On 1 January 2016, the Group and the Company adopted the following new and amended MFRSs mandatory for 
annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016:

Description
Effective for annual financial 
periods beginning on or after

Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle 1 January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 138 : Clarification 

of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141 : Agriculture - Bearer Plants 1 January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 11 : Accounting for Acquisitions  

of Interests in Joint Operations
1 January 2016

Amendments to MFRS 127 : Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 101 : Disclosure Initiatives 1 January 2016
Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 128 :  

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception
1 January 2016

MFRS 14 : Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016

The new standard and amendments do not have any significant effect on the Group's and the Company's financial 
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3	 Standards issued but not yet effective

The standards, amendments to standards and IC Interpretation that are issued but not yet effective up to the date of 
issuance of the Group's and the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group and the Company 
intend to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

Description
Effective for annual financial 
periods beginning on or after

MFRS 107 : Disclosures Initiatives (Amendments to MFRS 107) 1 January 2017
MFRS 112 : Recognition of Deferred Tax for Unrealised Losses (Amendments 

to MFRS 112)
1 January 2017

MFRS 2 : Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions (Amendments to MFRS 2)

1 January 2018

MFRS 15 : Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
MFRS 9 : Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
MFRS 16 : Leases 1 January 2019
Amendments to MFRS 4 : Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with 

MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
1 January 2018

Amendments to MFRS 140 : Transfers of Investment Property 1 January 2018
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128 : Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Deferred

Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2014 - 2016 Cycle:
(i)  	 Amendments to MFRS 1 : First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial 

Reporting Standards
1 January 2018

(ii)  	 Amendments to MFRS 12 : Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2017
(iii) 	 Amendments to MFRS 128 : Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures
1 January 2018

IC Interpretation 22 : Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration

1 January 2018

The Directors expect that the adoption of the above standards and amendment will not have any material impact 
on the financial statements in the period of initial application except as discussed below:

(i)	 MFRS 15 : Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

	 MFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model that will apply to revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
MFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective. 

	 The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue which depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. 

	 Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 
“control” of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the 
customer. 

	 Either a full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Directors do not anticipate that the application of MFRS 
15 will have a material impact on the Group's and the Company's financial statements.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.3	 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONT’D)

(ii)	 MFRS 9 : Financial Instruments 
	

In November 2014, MASB issued the final version of MFRS 9 Financial Instruments which reflects all 
phases of the financial instruments project and replaces MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement and all previous versions of MFRS 9. The standard introduces new requirements for 
classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. MFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. Retrospective application is 
required, but comparative information is not compulsory. The adoption of MFRS 9 will have an effect on 
the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets, but no impact on the classification and 
measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities. 

(iii)	 MFRS 16 : Leases

MFRS 16 will replace MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, IC Interpretation 115 Operating Lease-Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance 
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. MFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a 
single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under MFRS 117. 

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments and an 
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term. Lessees will be required to 
recognise interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. 

Lessor accounting under MFRS 16 is substantially the same as the accounting under MFRS 117. Lessors 
will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in MFRS 117 and distinguish 
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. 

MFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted 
but not before an entity applies MFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full 
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. 

The adoption of MFRS 16 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Group's lease 
assets and liabilities. 

2.4	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 
the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied 
for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

The Company controls an investee if and only if the Company has all the following:

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee); 

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and 

(iii)	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONT’D)

Subsidiaries are consolidated when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and 
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. The resulting 
difference is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate 
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest, is recognised in 
profit or loss. The subsidiary’s cumulative gain or loss which has been recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss or where applicable, transferred directly to retained 
profits. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date control is lost is regarded as 
the cost on initial recognition of the investment.

Reorganisation

Acquisition of entities under a reorganisation scheme does not result in any change in economic substance. 
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of the Company is a continuation of the acquired entities and 
is accounted for as follows:

(a)	 The results of entities are presented as if the reorganisation occurred from the beginning of the earliest 
period presented in the financial statements; 

(b)	 The Company will consolidate the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities at their pre-combination 
carrying amounts. No adjustments are made to reflect fair values, or recognise any new assets or liabilities, 
at the date of the reorganisation that would otherwise be done under the acquisition method; and 

(c)	 No new goodwill is recognised as a result of the reorganisation. The only goodwill that is recognised is 
the existing goodwill relating to the combining entities. Any difference between the consideration paid/
transferred and the equity acquired is reflected within equity as capital reorganisation reserve or deficit.

Business combination

Acquisition of subsidiaries under business combination are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost 
of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair 
value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The Group elects on a transaction-by-
transaction basis whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. Transaction costs incurred are expensed and included 
in administrative expenses.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, 
will be recognised in accordance with MFRS 139 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive 
income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement 
is accounted for within equity. In instances where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of 
MFRS 139, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate MFRS.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONT’D)

Business combination (cont’d)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognised for non-controlling interests over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If 
this consideration is lower than fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised 
in profit or loss. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.6(a).

2.5	 SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has all the following: 

(i)	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee); 

(ii)	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and 

(iii)	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment 
losses. On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts 
is included in profit or loss.

2.6	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(a)	 Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is allocated, 
from the acquisition date, to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. 

The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying 
amount of the cash-generating unit, including the allocated goodwill, with the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are 
not reversed in subsequent periods. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating 
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed 
of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations disposed of and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

(b)	 Computer software

Computer software acquired separately are measured initially at cost. Following initial acquisition, computer 
software are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.6	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT’D)

(b)	 Computer software (Cont’d)

Computer software-in-development are not depreciated as these assets are not available for use. Computer 
software are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 10 years when the assets are 
available for use. Computer software are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
computer software may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed at 
least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption 
of future economic benefits embodies in the assets is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on 
computer software is recognised in profit or loss. 

Gain or loss from derecognition of computer software are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the assets 
are derecognised. 

2.7	 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with them will flow to the Group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or 
loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Subsequent to recognition, all items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation, except for freehold land, and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore is not depreciated. Capital work-in progress are also 
not depreciated as these assets are not available for use. Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is 
provided for on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful lives.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:

Buildings				    50 years or the duration of the lease, whichever is shorter
Long-term leasehold land		  The duration of the lease of 99 years
Computer equipment			   5 to 10 years
Other equipment			   7 years
Motor vehicles			   5 years
Furniture and fittings and renovation	 10 years or the duration of the lease, whichever is shorter

	 The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each reporting date to ensure that the 
amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and equipment.

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the net carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss.

2.8	 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment property is land or building held by the Group or held under a finance lease, to earn rental income 
or for capital appreciation or both. Investment property is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.8	 INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONT’D)

Depreciation of investment property is provided for on a straight line basis to write off the cost to its residual value 
over its estimated useful life at the following periods:

Building				    Over 50 years or the duration of the lease, whichever is shorter

Upon the disposal of an item of investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

When an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is written down immediately to its 
recoverable value. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with 
Note 2.9.

2.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the 
Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. For the 
purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash flows (cash-generating units (“CGU”)). 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs 
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and 
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 
amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.10	 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group and the 
Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Group and the Company determine the classification of their financial assets at initial recognition, and the 
categories include loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. 

(a)	 Loans and receivables

Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified 
as loans and receivables. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.10	 FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONT’D)

(a)	 Loans and receivables (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables are classified as current assets, except for those having maturity dates later than 12 
months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current. 

(b)	 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not 
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity 
investments. 

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses 
from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except 
that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated 
using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised 
in profit or loss when the Group's and the Company's rights to receive payment is established. 

Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less 
impairment loss. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are classified as non-current assets unless they are expected to be realised 
within 12 months after the reporting date.

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On 
derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11	 Impairment of financial assets

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. 

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has been incurred, the 
Group and the Company consider factors such as probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor and default or significant delay in payments. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables 
could include the Group's and the Company's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number 
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local 
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables. 

If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset's 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original 
effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
a receivable becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The 
amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12	 INVENTORIES

Inventories comprise trading goods and consumables and are stated at the lower of cost (determined on the 
weighted average basis) and net realisable value. Cost comprises the invoiced value of the inventories and 
incidental expenses. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs necessary to 
make the sale.

2.13	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks and demand deposits at call which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

2.14	 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the 
definitions of a financial liability. 

Financial liabilities, within the scope of MFRS 139, are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and 
only when, the Group and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation 
process. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in profit or loss.

2.15	 Segment reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products and services 
which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the performance of the 
respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the management of the Group 
who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment 
performance. Additional disclosure of each of these segments are shown in Note 35, including the factors used to 
identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis of segment information. 

2.16	 Share capital and share issuance expenses

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group and the Company 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Ordinary shares are equity instruments. 

Ordinary shares are recorded at the proceeds received, net of directly attributable incremental transaction costs. 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in 
which they are declared.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.17	 LEASES

(a)	 As lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Any initial direct costs are also added to the 
amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the 
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as expenses in the periods in 
which they are incurred. 

Leased assets are depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over 
the shorter of the estimated useful life and the lease term. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 
lease term. The aggregate benefit or incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense over the lease term on a straight line basis.

(b)	 As lessor

Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified 
as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. 

2.18	 BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when the 
activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and borrowing costs 
are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or 
sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of 
interest and other costs that the Group incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

2.19	 INCOME TAX

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount 
of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred 
tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable profit.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.19	 INCOME TAX (CONT’D)

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax is recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except when it 
arises from a transaction which is recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised 
directly in equity, or when it arises from a business combination that is an acquisition, in which case the deferred 
tax is included in the resulting goodwill or the amount of any excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the combination. 

2.20	 PROVISIONS

Provisions for liabilities are recognised when the Group has present obligations as a result of past events, it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect 
of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

2.21	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)	 Short term benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group and the Company. Short term 
accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered 
by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating 
compensated absences such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur. 

(b)	 Defined contribution plans

As required by law, the Group makes contributions to the state pension scheme, the Employees Provident 
Fund ("EPF"). Such contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred. 

2.22	 FOREIGN CURRENCY

(a)	 Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the functional currency"). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia ("RM"), which is also the Company's functional 
currency. 

(b)	 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company and 
its subsidiary companies and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange 
rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting date. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 
end of the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.23	 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

(a)	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

(b)	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

(a)	 Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

(b)	 Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable. 

(c)	 Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable. 

2.24	 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised to the extent that probable economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount 
of revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must be met before revenue is 
recognised: 

(a)	 Sale of goods

	 Revenue is recognised when significant risks and rewards of ownership of the general merchandise have 
been passed to the customers. Revenue relating to sale of general merchandise is recognised net of discounts 
and returns.

(b)	 Commission income

	 Commission earned from services is recognised when the services are performed. 

(c)	 Rental income

	 Income from the rental of property is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the terms of the 
agreements. 
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.24	 REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONT’D)

(d)	 Interest income

	 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.

(e)	 Franchise income

	 Gross revenue from franchised convenience stores under the “7-Eleven” brand name operated by 
franchisees are recognised in the period the gross sales are earned. The Group expensed the franchisees’ 
share of revenue to selling and distribution expenses. Franchisees’ share of revenue is computed based on 
agreed percentage as stipulated in the respective franchise agreement. 

	 Initial fees are recognised upon granting of a new franchise term, which is when the Group has performed 
substantially all initial services required by the franchise arrangement. 

(f)	 Dividend income

	 Dividend income is recognised when the Group's right to receive payment is established.

2.25	 Rebates and incentives income

Trade rebates and incentives comprised volume rebates, rebates for central distribution arrangement by the Group 
and discounts on promotional programs. Rebates are recognised to income statements when the Group achieved 
the volume-purchase targets, and the performance obligations for central distribution arrangement and promotional 
programs have been fulfilled by the Group in accordance with the terms as stipulated in the trade agreements with 
vendors. These rebates and discounts are net off with costs of goods sold when the goods are sold. Rebates and 
discounts for unsold goods are net off against inventories and shall be recognised to the income statements when 
the goods are subsequently sold. 

Other rebates and incentives mainly comprised in-store displays and promotions and advertisements for specific 
products. Incentives are recognised to the income statements when the performance obligations have been fulfilled 
by the Group in accordance with the terms as stipulated in the agreements with vendors. These incentives are 
recognised as other income in the income statements. 

2.26	 Customer loyalty programme

The Group's loyalty programme allows the customers to collect award credits when specified sales terms were 
fulfilled by the customers. The customers can then redeem the gifts once the specified number of award credits 
have been collected. 

The Group accounts for the award credits as separately identifiable component of the initial sales transactions. 
The fair value of the consideration received or receivable in respect of the initial sales is allocated between the fair 
value of the award credits and the other components of the sale. 

The consideration allocated to the award credits is deferred and subsequently recognised as revenue when the 
award credits are redeemed. The deferral is treated as a deduction from revenue. 

The fair value of the award credits is determined with reference to the fair value of the gift to the customer and 
considers the redemption rate for the award credits.

2.27	 TREASURY SHARES

	 Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's own equity 
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised in 
equity.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. 

3.1	 Judgements made in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements:

(a)	 Classification between investment properties and property, plant and equipment

The Group has developed certain criteria based on MFRS 140 in making judgement whether a property 
qualifies as an investment property. Investment property is a property held to earn rental income or for 
capital appreciation or both. 

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation and 
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes. If these portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the 
Group would account for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property 
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods 
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine 
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as investment property. 

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amounts of the land and buildings of the Group classified as property, 
plant and equipment and investment property are disclosed in Notes 9 and 10. 

(b)	 Classification between property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. 

Some intangible assets may be contained in or on a physical substance such as a compact disc (in the case 
of computer software) and legal documentation (in the case of a licence). In determining whether an asset 
that incorporates both intangible and tangible elements should be treated under MFRS 116 Property, Plant 
and Equipment or as an intangible asset under MFRS 138 Intangible Assets , the Group uses judgement to 
assess which element is more significant.

The Group treats computer software for a computer-controlled machine tool that cannot operate without 
that specific software as an integral part of the related hardware and classifies the software as property, plant 
and equipment. When the software is not an integral part of the related hardware, the Group classifies the 
computer software as an intangible asset. 

As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amount of computer equipment classified as property, plant and 
equipment is RM32,507,010 (2015: RM28,054,000) and the carrying amount of computer software 
classified as intangible assets is RM35,822,000 (2015: RM21,232,000). 
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

3.2	K EY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below:

(a)	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and computer software 

	 Property, plant and equipment and computer software are depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis 
over their useful lives based on management's estimates of the period over which the assets will generate 
revenue (not to exceed lease term plus options for leased property). The useful lives are estimated based on 
historical experience with similar assets, taking into account anticipated technological or other changes. 
The Group periodically reviews these useful lives relative to physical factors, economic factors and industry 
trends. If there are changes in the planned use of property, plant and equipment, or if technological changes 
occur more rapidly than anticipated, the useful lives assigned to these assets may need to be shortened, 
resulting in the recognition of increased depreciation and amortisation expense or write-offs in future 
periods. 

	 The carrying amounts of the Group's property, plant and equipment and computer software as at the 
reporting date are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11.

(b)	 Impairment of loans and receivables

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group and 
the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. 
Management estimated the amount and timing of the future cash flows of its loans and receivables based 
on past experience of cash flows received. The carrying amounts of the Group's and the Company's loans 
and receivables at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 15. 

(c)	 Recognition of incentives and rebates

The Group receives incentives and rebates from suppliers for various programs, primarily volume incentives, 
display and promotional incentives, prompt payment discounts and warehouse rebates. 

Certain incentives and rebates recognised in profit or loss were estimated based on terms and rates in 
trade agreements entered into with suppliers. Actual amounts received from suppliers could differ from 
the amounts initially estimated. As at the reporting date, the Group has recognised incentives and rebates 
receivable of RM43,378,000 (2015: RM41,234,000).

(d)	 Provision for restoration costs

The Group leases convenience stores under operating leases. The Group provides for an estimate of 
restoration costs expense at the lease inception date for operating leases with requirements to remove 
leasehold improvements at the end of the lease term. 

Estimating restoration costs involves subjective assumptions regarding both the amount and timing of actual 
future restoration costs. Actual future costs could differ significantly from amounts initially estimated. The 
Group's provision for restoration costs as at the reporting date are disclosed in Note 22.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

3.2	K EY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D)

(e)	 Provision for inventory losses

Provision for inventory losses is estimated based on the best available facts and circumstances. The 
provision is re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received affects the amount estimated. 
The carrying amounts of the Group's inventories as of 31 December 2016 were RM263,948,000 (2015: 
RM180,705,000).

4.	 REVENUE

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Merchandise sales 2,028,944 1,937,578 - -

Commissions 74,144 68,429 - -

Dividend income - - 52,000 56,000

Interest income - - 800 3,191

Rental income 279 277 - -

2,103,367 2,006,284 52,800 59,191
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5.	 PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS

	 Profit from operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Auditors' remuneration

- Statutory audit 438 438 73 68

- Other services 80 100 12 12

Depreciation of property, plant  
and equipment 50,791 48,622 - -

Amortisation charge for investment  
property 5 5 - -

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,309 614 - -

Property, plant and equipment written off 2,669 2,302 - -

Impairment loss on intangible assets (Note 11) - 596 - -

Impairment loss on sundry  
receivables (Note 15) - 559 - -

Bad debts written off for sundry receivables 21 - - -

Write off of inventories 3,793 4,479 - -

Rental of premises 97,805 89,730 - -

Royalty 21,145 20,058 - -

Employee benefits expense (Note 6(a)) 294,015 265,401 - -

Non-executive directors' 
remuneration (Note 6(b)(ii)) 1,654 930 323 264

Loss on disposal of property, plant  
and equipment 312 201 - -

Rebates and incentives income (163,977) (146,888) - -

Interest income

- fixed deposits and overnight placements (1,780) (5,305) (800) (3,189)

- advances to a subsidiary company - - (1,210) (1,374)

Rental income (160) (375) - -

Franchise income

- initial fees (300) (195) - -

Reversal of impairment loss of property, plant 
and equipment (Note 9) (666) - - -

Loss on foreign exchange translation 
differences 15 186 - -
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6.	 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(a)	 Employee benefits expense

Group
2016

RM’000
2015

RM’000
Wages, salaries and other emoluments 250,176 224,938
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 26,154 22,799
Social security costs and employees insurance 4,280 3,894
Other staff benefits 13,405 13,770

294,015 265,401

Included in employee benefits expense of the Group is executive directors' remuneration amounting to RM2,332,000 
(2015: RM2,948,000), as disclosed in Note (6(b)(i)).

(b)	 Directors’ remuneration

Group Company
2016

RM’000
2015

RM’000
2016

RM’000
2015

RM’000
(i)    Executive directors’ remuneration:

Salaries 2,071 2,254 - -
Other emoluments 261 694 - -
Total executive directors' 

remuneration (excluding 
benefits-in-kind) (Note 6 (a)) 2,332 2,948 - -

Estimated money value of  
benefits-in-kind 40 54 - -

Total executive directors'
	 remuneration (including
	 (benefits-in-kind) 2,372 3,002 - -

(ii)   Non-executive directors’    
            remuneration:

Fees 307 240 307 240

Allowances 1,347 690 16 24

Total non-executive
	 directors' remuneration 1,654 930 323 264

Total directors' remuneration
	 (Note 29(b)) 4,026 3,932 323 264

The number of directors of the Company whose total remuneration during the financial year fell within the 
following bands is analysed below:

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Executive directors:
RM600,000 - RM650,000 - 1
RM650,000 - RM700,000 1 -
RM900,000 - RM950,000 - 1
RM1,350,000 - RM1,400,000 - 1
RM1,400,000 - RM1,450,000 1 -
Non-Executive directors:
RM50,000 and below 1 -
RM50,000 - RM100,000 2 3
RM200,000 - RM250,000 - 1
RM250,000 - RM300,000 1 -
RM400,000 - RM450,000 - 1
RM500,000 - RM550,000 1 -
RM850,000 - RM900,000 1 -
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7.	 FINANCE COSTS

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Interest expense on:
Hire purchase and lease liabilities 107 310 - -
Bankers' acceptances 1,979 - - -
Revolving credit 343 - - -
Term loans 161 3 - -
Amount due to a subsidiary company - - 1,448 127

2,590 313 1,448 127

8.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Income tax:
Current year 12,013 22,478 443 1,023
(Over)/underprovision in prior year (427) (874) - 69

11,586 21,604 443 1,092
Deferred tax (Note 25):

Relating to origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 7,385 2,070 - -

Overprovision in prior year (327) (1,633) - -

7,058 437 - -

18,644 22,041 443 1,092

Domestic current income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2015: 25%) of the estimated 
assessable profit for the year.

A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to income tax 
expense at the effective tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Profit before tax 70,817 77,842 51,782 59,692

Taxation at Malaysian statutory  
tax rate of 24% (2015: 25%) 16,996 19,461 12,428 14,923

Expenses not deductible under tax legislation 2,402 5,087 495 100
Income not subject to tax - - (12,480) (14,000)
(Over)/underprovision of income  

tax in prior year (427) (874) - 69
Overprovision of deferred tax in prior year (327) (1,633) - -

Tax expense for the year 18,644 22,041 443 1,092

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 77
9.

	
PR

O
PE

RT
Y,

 P
LA

N
T 

A
N

D
 E

Q
U

IP
M

EN
T

G
ro

up

La
nd

 a
nd

bu
ild

in
gs

*
R

M
’0

00

Fu
rn

it
ur

e,
 

fit
ti

ng
s,

 
co

m
pu

te
r 

eq
ui

pm
en

t
an

d 
ot

he
r

eq
ui

pm
en

t
R

M
’0

00

M
ot

or
ve

hi
cl

es
R

M
’0

00
R

en
ov

at
io

n
R

M
’0

00

C
ap

it
al

 w
or

k-
in

-p
ro

gr
es

s
R

M
’0

00
To

ta
l

R
M

’0
00

A
t 

31
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
16

C
os

t

A
t 1

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
16

36
,8

20
44

7,
42

7
2,

46
5

16
7,

54
2

3,
20

4
65

7,
45

8

A
dd

iti
on

s
-

48
,1

31
54

19
,5

77
55

2
68

,3
14

D
is

po
sa

ls
-

(1
,3

14
)

(2
02

)
-

-
(1

,5
16

)

W
rit

e-
of

fs
-

(3
,5

41
)

-
(3

,8
58

)
-

(7
,3

99
)

R
ec

la
ss

ifi
ca

tio
n

-
3,

20
4

-
-

(3
,2

04
)

-

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

36
,8

20
49

3,
90

7
2,

31
7

18
3,

26
1

55
2

71
6,

85
7

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
an

d 
 

im
pa

ir
m

en
t 

lo
ss

es

A
t 1

 Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
16

2,
97

7
25

8,
04

7
2,

14
4

90
,6

82
-

35
3,

85
0

D
ep

re
ci

at
io

n 
ch

ar
ge

 fo
r t

he
 y

ea
r

33
0

38
,1

60
13

8
12

,1
63

-
50

,7
91

D
is

po
sa

ls
-

(9
87

)
(2

02
)

-
-

(1
,1

89
)

R
ev

er
sa

l o
f i

m
pa

irm
en

t (
N

ot
e 

9 
(d

))
(6

66
)

-
-

-
-

(6
66

)

W
rit

e-
of

fs
-

(3
,4

23
)

-
(1

,3
07

)
-

(4
,7

30
)

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

2,
64

1
29

1,
79

7
2,

08
0

10
1,

53
8

-
39

8,
05

6

N
et

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
am

ou
nt

A
t 3

1 
D

ec
em

be
r 2

01
6

34
,1

79
20

2,
11

0
23

7
81

,7
23

55
2

31
8,

80
1

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016



78 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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9.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

	 *LAND AND BUILDINGS

Group

Freehold 
land

RM’000
Buildings
RM’000

Long term
leasehold

land
RM’000

Total
RM’000

At 31 December 2016
Cost
At 1 January/31 December 2016 23,711 9,896 3,213 36,820

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

At 1 January 2016 784 1,828 365 2,977
Depreciation charge for the year - 252 78 330
Reversal of impairment (Note 9(d)) (666) - - (666)

At 31 December 2016 118 2,080 443 2,641

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 23,593 7,816 2,770 34,179

At 31 December 2015

Cost

At 1 January/31 December 2015 23,711 9,896 3,213 36,820

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses

At 1 January 2015 784 1,694 201 2,679
Depreciation charge for the year - 134 164 298

At 31 December 2015 784 1,828 365 2,977

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2015 22,927 8,068 2,848 33,843

(a)	 Included in property, plant and equipment of the Group are fully depreciated property, plant and equipment which 
are still in use costing RM219,131,610 (2015: RM225,753,093). 

(b)	 During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment by the following means:
 

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Cash 65,712 114,633
Other payables 1,888 -
Capitalisation of restoration costs (Note 22) 714 582

68,314 115,215
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9.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

(c)	 Net carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment held under hire purchase and finance lease arrangements 
(Note 23) are as follows:

 

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Computer equipment 749 13,507
Motor vehicles 57 320

806 13,827

(d)	 As at 31 December 2016, the Group has reversed an impairment loss on a piece of freehold land amounting to 
RM666,000. The reason for the reversal of impairment loss is due to the appreciation of the land as observed by 
the management of the Group based on professional valuation report using the comparison method of valuation. 

10.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Cost
At 1 January/31 December 292 292

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 75 70
Amortisation charge for the year 5 5

At 31 December 80 75

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 212 217

Valuation of investment property

As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the investment property of the Group was estimated by the directors based 
on professional valuation report using the comparison method of valuation, to be approximately RM400,000 (2015: 
RM350,000). 

The fair value of investment property is determined using the market approach based on the transacted price for identical 
or comparable property on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm's length transaction. 
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11.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group

Goodwill on
consolidation

RM’000

Computer
software
RM’000

Computer
software-in-

development
RM’000

Total
RM’000

Cost
At 1 January 2016 596 8,189 13,657 22,442
Additions - 16,899 - 16,899
Reclassification - 13,657 (13,657) -

At 31 December 2016 596 38,745 - 39,341

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses

At 1 January 2016 596 614 - 1,210
Amortisation - 2,309 - 2,309

At 31 December 2016 596 2,923 - 3,519

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2016 - 35,822 - 35,822

Cost
At 1 January 2015 596 - 10,903 11,499
Additions - - 10,943 10,943
Reclassification - 8,189 (8,189) -

At 31 December 2015 596 8,189 13,657 22,442

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses

At 1 January 2015 - - - -
Amortisation - 614 - 614
Impairment loss 596 - - 596

At 31 December 2015 596 614 - 1,210

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2015 - 7,575 13,657 21,232

During the financial year, the Group acquired intangible assets by the following means:

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Cash 12,697 10,943
Other payables 4,202 -

 16,899 10,943
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12.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

Company 

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost 1,378,248 1,378,248 

Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows:

Country of
incorporation

Equity interest

Name of company 2016 2015 Principal activity

Held by the Company:

7-Eleven Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 
(“7EMSB”)

Malaysia 100% 100% Operating and franchising of convenience 
stores under the "7-Eleven" brand name

Held through 7-Eleven Malaysia 
Sdn. Bhd. :

Convenience Shopping (Sabah) 
Sdn. Bhd. (“CSSSB”)

Malaysia 100% 100% Dormant 

7 Properties Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100% 100% Real property investments

Teluk Juara Sdn. Bhd. (“TJSB”) Malaysia 100% 100% Real property investments

13.	 OTHER INVESTMENTS

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Available-for-sale financial assets

Non-current
At cost:
Unquoted shares in Malaysia 1 1

14.	 INVENTORIES

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

At cost:
General merchandise held for resale 251,417 175,673
Consumables 12,531 5,032

263,948 180,705

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 
during the financial year 1,451,631 1,385,095
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15.	 SUNDRY RECEIVABLES

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Current
Other receivables 41,604 63,443 11 390
Deposits 38,610 33,630 4 4
Prepayments 7,833 6,949 56 106
Dividend receivable from a 

subsidiary company - - 52,000 70,000
Due from a subsidiary company - - - 3,191
Due from other related parties 5,608 3,444 - -

93,655 107,466 52,071 73,691
Less: Allowance for impairment 

on other receivables (1,652) (1,652) - -

Total sundry receivables 92,003 105,814 52,071 73,691

Total sundry receivables 92,003 105,814 52,071 73,691
Add: Cash and bank balances (Note 16) 49,450 126,487 9,798 43,339
Less: Prepayments (7,833) (6,949) (56) (106)

Total loans and receivables 133,620 225,352 61,813 116,924
	
	 Included in sundry receivables is an amount of RM43,378,000 (2015: RM41,234,000), comprising of rebates and 

incentives income receivable from vendors. These rebates and incentives have been estimated based on terms in trade 
agreements entered into with vendors.

(a)	 Receivables

	 Receivables, other than amounts due from a subsidiary company, are unsecured, non-interest bearing and 
repayable upon demand. They are recognised at their original amounts which represent their fair values on initial 
recognition. 

	 Receivables that are impaired 

	 The receivables of the Group's and the Company's that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Individually impaired
Other receivables - nominal amounts 1,652 1,652
Less: Allowance for impairment (1,652) (1,652)

- -

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 January 1,652 1,093
Charge for the financial year - 559

At 31 December 1,652 1,652

Other receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to debtors that are in 
significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments.
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15.	 SUNDRY RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

(b)	 Due from a subsidiary company 

The amount due from a subsidiary company is unsecured, repayable on demand and bears interest at 5.8% (2015: 
5.8%) per annum.

(c)	 Due from other related parties

	 Amounts due from other related parties are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are repayable upon demand. 
Included in amount due from other related parties are as follow:

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Berjaya Kakao Sdn. Bhd. ("BKSB") (Note (i))
Advertising income - 400

Berjaya Channel Sdn. Bhd. ("BCSB") (Note (ii))
Advertising income - Revenue sharing 2,768 1,375

Nural Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. ("NESB") (Note (ii))
Refundable deposits 529 529

Berjaya Times Square Sdn. Bhd. ("BTSB") (Note (iii))
Refundable deposits 324 324

Sun Media Corporation Sdn Bhd ("Sun Media")
Display fees from placement of the Sun newspaper 1,987 816

(i)	 BKSB is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Friendster Sdn. Bhd., which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MOL 
Venture Pte. Ltd (formerly known as MOL Global Pte. Ltd.) ("MOL"). Tan Sri Dato' Seri Vincent Tan Chee 
Yioun ("TSVT") is a substantial shareholder of BKSB by virtue of his direct and indirect interest in MOL. 

(ii)	 BCSB and NESB are subsidiaries of Berjaya Corporation Berhad ("BCorp"). 

(iii)	 BTSB is a subsidiary of Berjaya Assets Berhad ("BAssets"). 

	 Chan Kien Sing who is a director of the Company is also a director of BCorp and BAssets.

	 TSVT is a substantial shareholder of the Company's ultimate holding company, HQZ. TSVT is also a substantial 
shareholder of BCorp, BAssets and Sun Media.

	 TSVT is also a director of BTSB.

16.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Cash on hand and at banks 40,612 75,830 1,303 3,339
Short term deposits with licensed banks 8,838 50,657 8,495 40,000

49,450 126,487 9,798 43,339
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16.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONT’D)

	 Included in cash on hand and at banks of the Group and of the Company are overnight placements with licensed banks 
amounted to RM5,189,908 (2015: RM49,286,634), with interest ranging from 1.50% to 3.00% (2015: 2.75% to 3.20%) 
per annum.

	 As at the reporting date, the interest rates of short term deposits of the Group ranged from 2.80% to 4.00% (2015: 3.10% 
to 4.00%) per annum.

	 The remaining days to maturity of deposits as at the end of the financial year were as follows: 

Group Company

2016
Days

2015
Days

2016
Days

2015
Days

Deposits with licensed banks 3 - 22 4 - 22 3 - 9 4 - 22

17.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company 

Number of ordinary
shares of RM0.10 each Amount

2016
’000

2015
’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Authorised
At 1 January/31 December 3,000,000 3,000,000 300,000 300,000

Issued and fully paid up
At 1 January/31 December 1,233,385 1,233,385 123,338 123,338

The holders of the ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary 
shares net of treasury shares, carry one vote per share without restrictions and rank equally with regard to the Company's 
residual assets.

18. 	 SHARE PREMIUM

Group and Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Share premium
At 1 January/31 December 1,361,800 1,361,800

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016



86 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016

19.	 TREASURY SHARES

Group and Company

Number of ordinary
shares of RM0.10 each Amount

2016
’000

2015
’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

At 1 January 40,500 - 58,913 -
Purchase during the year 82,500 40,500 131,712 58,913

At 31 December 123,000 40,500 190,625 58,913

	 Treasury shares relate to ordinary shares of the Company that are held by the Company. The amount consists of the 
acquisition costs of treasury shares.

	 During the financial year ended 31 December 2016, the Company repurchased 82,500,000 (2015: 40,500,000) ordinary 
shares from the open market at Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad ("Bursa Malaysia") at an average price of RM1.59 (2015: 
RM1.45) per share. The total consideration paid for the acquisition including transaction costs was RM131,712,000 (2015: 
RM58,913,000). The shares purchased are being held as treasury shares in accordance with Section 67A of the Companies 
Act, 1965. The carrying amount of the treasury shares is presented as a component within shareholders’ equity.

	 The directors of the Company are committed to enhancing the value of the Company for its shareholders and believe that 
the repurchase plan can be applied in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The repurchase transactions 
were financed by internally generated funds and held as treasury shares.

20. 	 CAPITAL REORGANISATION DEFICIT

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Capital reorganisation deficit
At 1 January/31 December (1,343,248) (1,343,248)

21.	 RETAINED PROFITS

	 The Company may distribute dividends out of its entire retained profits under the single tier system.
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22.	 PROVISIONS

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

At 1 January 6,476 5,999
Provisions during the year 714 582
Utilised during the year (77) (105)

At 31 December 7,113 6,476

At 31 December
Current 158 701

Non-current:
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 469 640
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 879 1,183
Later than 5 years 5,607 3,952

6,955 5,775

7,113 6,476

Provisions represent the estimated costs of dismantlement, removal or restoration of property, plant and equipment arising 
from the use of such assets, which are capitalised and included in the cost of property, plant and equipment.

23. 	 BORROWINGS

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Short term borrowings
Secured:
Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 24) 160 1,946

Unsecured:
Bankers' acceptances 65,513 -
Term loan 4,800 -
Revolving credit 20,000 -

90,473 1,946
Long term borrowings
Secured:
Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 24) 19 132

Unsecured:
Term loan 25,200 -

25,219 132
Total borrowings
Bankers' acceptances 65,513 -
Term loan 30,000 -
Revolving credit 20,000 -
Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities (Note 24) 179 2,078

115,692 2,078
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23. 	 BORROWINGS (CONT'D)

The remaining maturities of the borrowings as at 31 December 2016, other than hire purchase and finance lease liabilities 
as disclosed in Note 24, are as follows:

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

At 31 December
Current:

Not later than 1 year 90,313 -

Non-current:
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 4,800 -
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 20,400 -

25,200 -
115,513 -

The borrowings are secured by the followings:

Hire purchase and finance lease liabilities

First legal charge over the subsidiary's computer equipment and motor vehicles of RM806,000 (2015: RM13,827,000) 
acquired by means of hire purchase and finance lease liabilities, as disclosed in Note 9(c).

Other information on financial risks of borrowings are disclosed in Note 33(b).

24 	 HIRE PURCHASE AND FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Future minimum lease payments:
Not later than 1 year 164 2,053
Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 19 136

183 2,189
Less: Future finance charges (4) (111)

179 2,078

Analysis of present value of finance lease payables:
Current 160 1,946

Non-current:
Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years 19 132

179 2,078
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25.	 Deferred tax liability/(asset)

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

At 1 January 8,760 8,323
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 8) 7,058 437

At 31 December 15,818 8,760

Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows:

Deferred tax assets (3,444) (2,956)
Deferred tax liability 19,262 11,716

15,818 8,760

The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liability during the financial year prior to offsetting are as 
follows: 

Deferred tax assets

Group
Receivables

RM’000
Provisions

RM’000
Total

RM’000

At 1 January 2016 - (2,956) (2,956)
Recognised in profit or loss - (488) (488)

At 31 December 2016 - (3,444) (3,444)

At 1 January 2015 7 (2,573) (2,566)
Recognised in profit or loss (7) (383) (390)

At 31 December 2015 - (2,956) (2,956)
	
	 Deferred tax liability

Group

Property,
plant and

equipment
RM’000

At 1 January 2016 11,716
Recognised in profit or loss 7,546

At 31 December 2016 19,262

At 1 January 2015 10,889
Recognised in profit or loss 827

At 31 December 2015 11,716
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26. 	 TRADE PAYABLES

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Current
Third parties
Merchandise suppliers 309,583 286,395 - -
Phone reload coupon suppliers 92,970 80,436 - -

Related parties
Phone reload coupon suppliers 58,953 44,149 - -

Total trade payables 461,506 410,980 - -

Total trade payables 461,506 410,980 - -
Add: Other payables (Note 27) 138,168 145,161 85,041 3,828
Add: Borrowings (Note 23) 115,692 2,078 - -
Less: Deferred revenue (Note 27) - (740) - -
Total financial liabilities, 

carried at amortised cost 715,366 557,479 85,041 3,828

(a)	 Third parties

	 The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group are as follows: 

Group

2016
Days

2015
Days

Merchandise suppliers 30 - 60 30 - 60
Phone reload coupon suppliers 7 - 60 7 - 60

	 The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group ranged from 7 to 60 (2015: 7 to 60) days. However, suppliers 
will generally extend their credit terms to 90 (2015: 90) days upon request by the Group.

(b)	 Related parties 

	 Related parties refer to MOL AccessPortal Sdn. Bhd. ("MOL") and U Mobile Sdn. Bhd. ("U Mobile"), companies in 
which TSVT is deemed to have an interest. 

	 The trade credit terms granted by MOL and U Mobile to the Group ranged from 7 to 60 (2015: 7 to 60) days. 
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27.	 OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Current
Sundry payables 55,988 50,491 17 -
Accruals 61,513 67,573 301 296
Royalties payable 1,807 1,701 - -
Refundable deposits 18,860 21,124 - -
Due to a related party - 3,532 - 3,532
Due to a subsidiary company - - 84,723 -
Deferred revenue - 740 - -

138,168 145,161 85,041 3,828

(a)	 Payables

	 Payables, other than amounts due to a related company and a subsidiary company, are unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 (2015: 30 to 60) days terms. They are recognised at their original 
invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition. 

	 Included in sundry payables are balances in respect of transactions with a company in which TSVT is deemed 
interested: 

Group

Type of transaction 2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Securexpress Services Sdn. Bhd. Transportation costs 320 302

(b)	 Refundable deposits 

	 Refundable deposits comprised security deposits, change fund deposits and rental deposits. These deposits are 
refundable upon the termination by notice as per the franchise or tenancy agreements, or the expiration of the 
respective agreement. 

(c)	 Due to a related party 

	 As at 31 December 2015, the amount due to a related party, Inter-Pacific Securities Sdn. Bhd. ("IPSSB"), was 
in respect of the purchase of treasury shares. IPSSB is a subsidiary of BCorp, of which TSVT is a director and 
substantial shareholder. 

(d)	 Due to a subsidiary company 

	 As at 31 December 2016, the amount due to a subsidiary company, refers to amount due to 7-Eleven Malaysia Sdn. 
Bhd. This amount is unsecured, bore interest at 5.8% and is repayable on demand. 
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28.	 DIVIDENDS

Group and Company

Amount, net 
of tax

Net dividend per
ordinary share

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
Sen

2015
Sen

Interim dividend for the financial  
year ended 31 December 2015:

Interim single-tier dividend of 2.3% on 
1,180,145,000# ordinary shares, declared 
on 25 February 2016 and paid on 31 March 
2016 (2015: Interim single-tier dividend of 
2.5% on 1,233,385,000 ordinary shares, 
declared on 27 February 2015 and paid on 
31 March 2015) 27,143 30,835 2.3 2.5

Special dividend for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015:

Special single-tier dividend of 2.4% on 
1,180,145,000#  ordinary shares, declared 
on 25 February 2016 and paid on 31 March 
2016 (2015: Special single-tier dividend of 
2.6% on 1,233,385,000 ordinary shares, 
declared on 27 February 2015 and paid on 
31 March 2015) 28,323 32,068 2.4 2.6

55,466 62,903 4.7 5.1

#	 Dividends were distributed to the holders of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 17 March 2016 (being 
the entitlement date), net of 53,240,000 treasury shares.

(a)	 The following dividends have been declared after the financial year ended 31 December 2016:

Group and Company

Amount, net
of tax

RM’000

Net dividend 
per ordinary 

share
Sen

Interim dividend for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016:

Interim single-tier dividend of 2.3% on 1,110,385,000^ ordinary shares, 
declared on 27 February 2017 and payable on 28 April 2017 25,539 2.3

Special dividend for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2016:

Special single-tier dividend of 2.4% on 1,110,385,000^ ordinary shares, 
declared on 27 February 2017 and payable on 28 April 2017 26,649 2.4

52,188 4.7

^	 Dividends are distributable to the holders of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 14 April 2017 
(being the entitlement date), net of 123,000,000 treasury shares.

The financial statements for the current year do not reflect the above mentioned dividends. These said dividends 
will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of retained profits in the financial year ending 31 December 
2017.
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29. 	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	 Significant related party transactions

Company

Type of 
transaction

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

With a subsidiary company
Held by the Company:
7-Eleven Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Dividend receivable from 7EMSB 52,000 56,000

Advances to 7EMSB, net of payment 101,676 1,942
Interest expense payable to 7EMSB 1,448 127
Interest income on dividend receivable from 7EMSB 1,210 1,374

Group
Type of 
transactiontransaction

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

With companies in which TSVT 
is deemed interested*

MOL AccessPortal  
Sdn. Bhd.

Receipts of payment from MOL for commission on in-store 
services such as mobile phone, Touch 'n Go, and online 
game reloads and bill payments 25,684 23,995

Payments to MOL for transaction values for in-store services 
such as mobile phone, Touch 'n Go, and online game 
reloads and bill payments 710,960 621,266

U Mobile Sdn. Bhd. Receipts from U Mobile for commission on sale of mobile 
phone reloads 9,613 7,827

Payments to U Mobile for transaction values for in-store 
services for sale of mobile phone reloads 151,080 127,649

Receipts from U Mobile for advertisement placement fees 6,182 5,400
Berjaya Channel Sdn. Bhd. Receipts from BCSB for advertisement placement fees 1,258 1,500
Sun Media Corporation 

Sdn. Bhd.
Advertising fees on placement of advertisement in The Sun 

newspaper 739 612
Display fees from placement of The Sun newspaper  

in 7-Eleven’s stores 720 752
Prime Credit Leasing Sdn. Bhd. Leasing facility for point-of-sales computer system 

- Lease interest 69 303
Securexpress Services Sdn. Bhd. 

(“Securexpress”)
Payment to Securexpress for transportation fees for delivery 

of merchandise goods to stores 17,603 13,817
Berjaya Sompo 

Insurance Berhad 
(“Berjaya Sompo”)

Payment to Berjaya Sompo for insurance premium 1,753 1,740

Nural Enterprise Sdn. Bhd. Payment to NESB for rental of property 1,382 1,373
Berjaya Times Square Sdn. Bhd. Payment to BTSB for rental of property 539 532

*	 TSVT is a substantial shareholder of HQZ.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016



94 7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016

29. 	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

(a)	 Significant related party transactions (Cont’d)

The directors are of the opinion that all the transactions above have been entered into in the normal course of 
business and have been established on negotiated terms and conditions.

Information regarding outstanding balances arising from related party transactions as at 31 December 2016 and 
2015 are disclosed in Notes 15, 26 and 27.

(b)	 Compensation of key management personnel

	 The remuneration of directors and members of key management during the financial year was as follows: 

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Short-term employee benefits 8,639 7,465 323 264
Post-employment benefits:

Defined contribution plan 744 865 - -

9,383 8,330 323 264
Included in the total key 

management personnel are:
Directors’ remuneration (Note 6(b)) 4,026 3,932 323 264

30.	 COMMITMENTS

(a)	 Capital commitments

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Approved and contracted for
- property, plant and equipment - 3,930
- intangible assets 1,635 16,706

1,635 20,636

Approved but not contracted for
- property, plant and equipment 111,130 109,146
- intangible assets - 8,036

111,130 117,182

112,765 137,818

(b)	 Operating lease commitments - as lessee

	 The Group has entered into commercial leases on properties. These non-cancellable leases have an average lease 
term of 3 years. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge upon renewal of the 
leases based on prevailing market conditions. The Group is restricted from subleasing the excess space to third 
parties. 
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30.	 COMMITMENTS (CONT'D)

(b)	 Operating lease commitments - as lessee (Cont'd)

	 The future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows: 
	

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Not later than 1 year 6,780 5,564
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 6,233 5,297

13,013 10,861

(c) 	 Operating lease commitments - as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on their properties. These non-cancellable leases have 
an average lease terms of 3 years. All leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge upon 
renewal of the leases based on prevailing market conditions. 

The future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are as follows: 

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Not later than 1 year 174 171

31. 	 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has bank guarantees of RM7,099,383 as at 31 December 2016 (2015: RM6,645,000) as security deposits in 
favour of various government bodies and private companies. 

The bank guarantee facilities are granted to 7-Eleven Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. on a clean basis. 

32. 	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A.	 Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
not reasonable approximation of fair value

Group

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Financial asset:

Other investment (non-current)
- Unquoted equity instrument, 

at cost (Note 13) 1 * 1 *

Financial liability:

- Hire purchase and finance lease 
liabilities (Note 24) 179 203 2,078 2,257

*	 Investment in equity instrument carried at cost

Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group's investment in equity instrument that is carried 
at cost because fair value cannot be measured reliably.
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32. 	 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)

B. 	 Determination of fair value

	 Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation 
of fair value 

	 The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 
reasonable approximation of fair value:

Note

Sundry receivables (current) 15
Trade and other payables (current) 26, 27
Borrowings (current and non-current) 23

	 The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due 
to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or 
near the reporting date.

	 The carrying amounts of the current and non-current portion of borrowings are reasonable approximation of fair 
values due to the insignificant impact of discounting. 

	 The fair values of current and non-current borrowings are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows at 
market incremental lending rate for similar types of lending, borrowings or leasing arrangements at the reporting 
date.

C. 	 Fair value hierarchy

	 The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group's assets and liabilities. 

	 Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities: 

Fair value measurement using

Group
Total

RM’000

Quoted
prices in

active markets
(Level 1)
RM’000

Significant
observable

inputs
(Level 2)
RM’000

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)
RM’000

31 December 2016

Assets for which fair values 
are disclosed

Investment property (Note 10) 400 - - 400

Liabilities for which fair 
values are disclosed

Borrowings
- Hire purchase and finance lease 

liabilities (Note 24) 203 - - 203

31 December 2015

Assets for which fair values 
are disclosed

Investment property (Note 10) 350 - - 350

Liabilities for which fair 
values are disclosed

Borrowings
- Hire purchase and finance lease 

liabilities (Note 24) 2,257 - - 2,257

	 There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial instruments. 
The key financial risks include credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. 

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees the policies and procedures for the management of these risks, which are 
executed by the senior management of the Company. 

It is the Group's policy that no derivatives shall be undertaken except for the use as hedging instruments where appropriate 
and cost-efficient. The Group and the Company do not apply hedge accounting. 

	 The following sections provide details regarding the Group's and the Company's exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks. 

(a)	 Credit risk

	 Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default on 
its obligations. The Group's and the Company's exposure to credit risk arises primarily from sundry receivables. 
For other financial assets (including cash and bank balances), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by 
dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. 

	 The Group's objective is to seek continual growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk 
exposure. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. 

	 Exposure to credit risk 

	 At the reporting date, the Group's and the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position. 

	 Amounts due from a subsidiary company 

	 There is minimal risk of default as the subsidiary company is prospectively profitable. The credit standing of these 
related parties are periodically monitored and reviewed.

(b) 	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group's and the Company's financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

The interest bearing assets are made up of deposits with licensed banks and advances to a subsidiary company. 
The Group and the Company manage the interest rate risk of their deposits with licensed banks by placing them 
at the most competitive interest rates obtainable, which yield better returns than cash at bank. Interest are charged 
on advances to a subsidiary company at rates comparable to market borrowing rates. 

Borrowings at floating rates expose the Group and the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings obtained 
at fixed rate expose the Group and the Company to fair value interest rate risk. The Group and the Company 
manages its interest rate exposure by maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings. 

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, 
the Group's profit net of tax would have been RM478,000 (2015: RM190,000) lower/higher, arising mainly as a 
result of higher/lower interest income on deposits with licensed banks and interest expenses on borrowings. 

At the reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower, with all other variables held constant, 
the Company's profit net of tax would have been RM354,000 (2015: RM214,000) lower/higher, arising mainly 
as a result of higher/lower interest income on deposit with a licensed bank and advances payable to a subsidiary 
company. 

The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable 
market environment.
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) 	 Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk (Cont’d)

	 The carrying amounts, the range of applicable interest rates as at the reporting date and the remaining maturities 
of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk are disclosed in Notes 15, 16, 23 and 27 
and the table below:

Note
Range of

interest rate
%

Within
1 year

RM’000

1 - 2
years

RM’000

2 - 5
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000

At 31 December 2016

Group

Fixed rate
Hire purchase and finance lease 24 5.0 - 6.9 160 19 - 179

Variable rate
Term loan
Banker's acceptances
Revolving credit

23
23
23

5.6
4.6 - 5.3

5.1

4,800
65,513
20,000

4,800
-
-

20,400
-
-

30,000
65,513
20,000

At 31 December 2015

Group

Fixed rate
Hire purchase and finance lease 24 5.0 - 6.9 1,946 132 - 2,078

(c)	 Liquidity risk

	 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due 
to shortage of funds. The Group's and the Company's exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of 
the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group's and the Company's objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities. 

	 The Group actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as to ensure that all funding 
needs are met. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Group maintains the availability of funding 
through adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 

	 Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's and the Company's liabilities at the reporting date 
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 

2016
On demand

or within
1 year

RM’000

1 to 5
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000
Group
Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 599,674 - 599,674
Borrowings 92,000 28,137 120,137

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 691,674 28,137 719,811

Company

Financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables, representing 
total undiscounted financial liabilities 85,041 - 85,041
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33.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

	 Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities (Cont’d)

2015
On demand

or within
1 year

RM’000

1 to 5
years

RM’000
Total

RM’000

Group

Financial liabilities:
Trade and other payables 555,401 - 555,401
Borrowings 2,053 136 2,189

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 557,454 136 557,590

Company

Financial liabilities:

Other payables, representing total 
undiscounted financial liabilities 3,828 - 3,828

(d)	 Foreign currency risk
	
	 The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of its normal operating activities, where the currency 

denomination differs from the functional currency, Ringgit Malaysia. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily 
US Dollar. Foreign exchange exposures are kept to an acceptable level. 

	 The net unhedged financial liabilities of the Group and the Company that are not denominated in their functional 
currency are as follows: 

Group
RM’000

Payables

At 31 December 2016
US Dollar 1,793

At 31 December 2015
US Dollar 870

	 Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

	 At the reporting date, the impact to the Group's profit net of tax would be minimal, if US Dollar exchange rate had 
strengthened/weakened by 10%, with all other variables held constant. 

34. 	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the financial years 
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015. 
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34. 	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital. The Group's policy is to keep 
the gearing ratio of less than 1.25 times. The Group includes within net debt, loans and borrowings, less cash and bank 
balances. Capital includes equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company, and excludes treasury shares. 

Group Company

Note 2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Borrowings 23 115,692 2,078 - -
Less: Cash and bank balances 16 (49,450) (126,487) (9,798) (43,339)

Net debts/(cash) 66,242 (124,409) (9,798) (43,339)

Equity attributable to the shareholders  
of the Group/Company, 
representing total capital 225,814 229,107 1,546,489 1,550,616

Gearing ratio 0.29 (0.54) (0.01) (0.03)

The gearing ratio is not governed by the MFRS and its definition and calculation may vary from one group/company to 
another.

35.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

	 The Group is essentially involved in operation of convenience stores, investment holding and real property investments. 
Operating segments of the Group are best segregated as follows:

(a)	 Convenience stores

	 The convenience stores segment is the operating and franchising of convenience stores under the "7-Eleven" 
brand name, which offers a range of grocery and food items including hot food and beverages and manages the 
distribution of reloads of mobile phone, Touch 'n Go and online game and bill payment services.

(b)	 Others
	
	 The other segments consist of investment holding and real property investments. 

	 All inter-segment transactions were carried out in the normal course of business and established under negotiated terms.

Group

Revenue 
External
RM’000

Inter-
segment
RM’000

Total
RM’000

For the financial year ended 
31 December 2016

Convenience stores 2,103,088 - 2,103,088
Others 279 52,697 52,976
Inter-segment elimination - (52,697) (52,697)

2,103,367 - 2,103,367

For the financial year ended 
31 December 2015

Convenience stores 2,006,009 - 2,006,009
Others 275 56,698 56,973
Inter-segment elimination - (56,698) (56,698)

2,006,284 - 2,006,284
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35.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

Group

Results
2016

RM’000
2015

RM’000

Profit from operations:
Convenience stores 71,797 74,930
Others (170) (2,080)

71,627 72,850
Interest income 1,780 5,305
Finance costs (2,590) (313)

Profit before tax 70,817 77,842
Income tax expense (18,644) (22,041)

Net profit for the year 52,173 55,801

Group

Assets Liabilities

Assets and liabilities
2016

RM’000
2015

RM’000
2016

RM’000
2015

RM’000

Convenience stores 738,349 685,017 737,593 565,094
Others 35,156 58,652 723 8,381

773,505 743,669 738,316 573,475

Group

Other information

Capital
expenditure

RM’000

Depreciation
and

amortisation
RM’000

Impairment
loss*/

written-off
RM’000

Other
non-cash

(income)/
expenses
RM’000

For the financial year ended 
31 December 2016

Convenience stores 68,314 52,951 6,473 312
Others - 154 (656) -

68,314 53,105 5,817 312

For the financial year ended 
31 December 2015

Convenience stores 115,215 49,137 6,614 201
Others - 104 1,322 -

115,215 49,241 7,936 201

*	 Included reversal of impairment loss

Geographical information

All revenue and non-current assets are earned and held in Malaysia.
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36.	 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the financial year (net of tax) attributable to equity 
holders of the Company, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

The Company has no potential ordinary shares and therefore, diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per 
share. The following reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic earnings per share for the years 
ended 31 December:

Group

2016 2015

Net profit attributable to ordinary shares (RM'000) 52,173 55,801
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ('000) 1,158,619 1,225,155
Basic/diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen) 4.50 4.55

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 103

37.	 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - BREAKDOWN OF RETAINED PROFITS INTO REALISED AND UNREALISED

The breakdown of the retained profits of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 
into realised profits and unrealised losses is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad dated 25 March 2010 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of 
Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing 
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

Group Company

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

Realised profits 99,742 95,977 61,351 65,478
Unrealised losses (15,818) (8,760) - -

Total retained profits as per 
statement of changes in equity 83,924 87,217 61,351 65,478

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2016
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

No. Location
Description of 

Properties  Existing Use

Estimated 
Age of 

Building 
(Years)

Approximate 
Area / Size 

(sq ft) Tenure 
Date of 

Acquisition 
 Net Book 
Value (RM) 

1 Lot 3, Persiaran Gerbang Utama,
Bukit Jelutong Industrial Park,
40150 Shah Alam,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

A Parcel of 
Industrial 

Land

Vacant / Not 
Applicable

- 174,182
(4 acres)

Freehold 12 May 
2009

10,757,500

2 No. 49, Jalan Sultan Ismail,
50250 Kuala Lumpur.

Intermediate 
Unit 21/2 Storey 

Shop Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

59 Land Area :
1,302

Build-up :
3,750

Freehold 28 May  
2004

3,137,578

3 No. 2, Jalan Hang Lekiu,
50100 Kuala Lumpur.

Corner Unit 
Four (4) Storey 

Shop Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

18 Land Area :
1,033

Build-up :
4,142

Freehold  3 Oct  
2005 

3,582,218

4 No. 1, Block 6, Jalil Link,
Jalan Jalil Jaya 7,Bukit Jalil,
57000 Kuala Lumpur.

Corner Unit 
Four (4) Storey 

Shop Office 

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

7 Land Area :
1,787

Build-up :
7,140

Freehold 25 Sep  
2007

2,153,063

5 No. 58, Jalan PJS 11/28A,
Sunway Metro,
Bandar Sunway,
46150 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Intermediate 
Unit Four (4) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

20 Land Area :
1,644

Build-up :
6,600

Leasehold                               
(99-Year)

Expiring Date :
28 Dec 2092

  (H.S.(D) 85458)

11 Mar 2095
 (H.S.(M) 9321)

11 May  
2006

1,742,564

6 No. 211, Jalan Perkasa 1,
Taman Maluri,
55100 Kuala Lumpur.

Corner Unit 
Four (4) Storey 

Shop Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

33 Land Area :
2,208

Build-up :
8,654

Leasehold                     
(99-Year)         

6 Oct 
2004 1,452,380

7 No. 213, Jalan Perkasa 1,
Taman Maluri,
55100 Kuala Lumpur.

Intermediate 
Unit Four (4) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

33 Land Area :
1,760

Build-up :
6,864

Expiring Date :                                 
24 May 2076

8 No. 10, Jalan Tiara 2,
Bandar Baru Klang,
41150 Klang,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Intermediate 
Unit Four (4) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

24 Land Area :
1,647

Build-up :
6,402

Leasehold                               
(99-Year)

Expiring Date :
8 May 2093

24 Aug  
2004

1,235,155

9 Lot No.G-17 & G18,
Ground Floor,
Wisma Cosway,
Jalan Raja Chulan,
50200 Kuala Lumpur.

Two (2) 
adjoining 

Ground Floor 
strata Shop Lot

As 7-Eleven 
Convenience Store 

33 Land Area :
-

Build-up :
602.78

Freehold 30  Sep  
2009

1,033,017

10 No. 46, Jalan Permas 10,
Bandar Baru Permas Jaya,
81750 Masai,
Johor Darul Takzim.

Corner Unit 
Four (4) Storey  

Shop Office 

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

21 Land Area :
2,583

Build-up :
10,332

Freehold 9 Dec  
2008

1,036,760
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

No. Location
Description of 

Properties  Existing Use

Estimated 
Age of 

Building 
(Years)

Approximate 
Area / Size 

(sq ft) Tenure 
Date of 

Acquisition 
 Net Book 
Value (RM) 

11 No. 2, Jalan Impian Mahkota 1,
Taman Saujana Impian,
43000 Kajang,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Intermediate 
Unit Three (3) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
with Lower Ground 
Floor used as Car 

Park

9 Land Area :
1,604

Build-up :
5,003

Freehold 25 Jan  
2006

949,352

12 No. 20, Jalan Tun Abdul Razak,
Susur 6, Taman Suria Muafakat, 
81200 Johor Bahru,
Johor Darul Takzim.

Intermediate 
Stratified Unit 

Three (3)  
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

6 Land Area :
1,540

Build-up :
4,779

Leasehold                            
(99-Year)

Expiring Date :
23 May 2105

11 Dec 2008 912,373

13 No. 1, Lorong Sungai Emas,
Eden Square,
Batu Ferringhi,
11100 Pulau Pinang.

Corner Unit 
Three (3) Storey 

Shop Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

13 Land Area :
1,673

Build-up :
3,814

Freehold 16 May  
1997

875,535

14 No. 65, Jalan Badik 1,
Taman Sri Tebrau,
80050 Johor Bahru,
Johor Darul Takzim.

Intermediate 
Unit Two (2) 

Storey Terraced 
Shop Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

40 Land Area :
1,760

Build-up :
3,520

Freehold 27 Apr 
2006

821,774

15 No. 7, Jalan SS 12/1B,
Subang Jaya,
47500 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Intermediate 
Unit Two (2) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

26 Land Area :
1,324

Build-up :
2,408

Freehold 22 January 
1998

754,050

16 No. A-G-08, Block A ,
Jalan PJU 1A/41B,
Diaman Crimson
(Pusat Dagangan NZX),
47301 Petaling Jaya,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Intermediate 
Unit Ground 
Floor Shop

As 7-Eleven 
Convenience Store 

9 Land Area :
-

Build-up :
1,711

Freehold 10 Mar  
2005

696,002

17 No. 30, Jalan Setia Tropika 1/24,
Taman Setia Tropika,  
Kempas, 81200 Johor Bahru,
Johor Darul Takzim.

End Unit  
Three (3) Storey 

Shop Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

8 Land Area :
1,680

Build-up :
5,040

Freehold 25 Mar  
2008

661,985

18 No. 1, Jalan Kesidang 3/11,
Melaka Mall,
Off Jalan Tun Perak,
75300 Melaka.

End Unit Four 
(4) Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

24 Land Area :
2,271

Build-up :
8,592

Freehold 25 Aug  
2007

485,965

19 No. 47 Jalan Yang Kalsom,
30250 Ipoh,
Perak Darul Ridzuan.

Intermediate 
Unit Two (2) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

67 Land Area :
1,740

Build-up :
2,600

Freehold 15 Jun 
2007 

423,717

20 No. D-0-5 & D-0-6, 
Block D, Ground Floor,
Arena Green Apartment ,
Jalan 1/155A, Bukit Jalil,
57000 Kuala Lumpur.

Two (2) 
adjoining 

Ground Floor 
strata Shop Lot

As 7-Eleven 
Convenience Store 

14 Land Area :
-

Build-up :
1,378

Freehold 14 April  
2009

382,795
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

No. Location
Description of

Properties Existing Use

Estimated
Age of 

Building
(Years)

Approximate
Area / Size

(sq ft) Tenure
Date of 

Acquisition
Net Book

Value (RM)

21 No.31, Jalan Utama 44,
Mutiara Square, Mutiara Rini,
81300 Skudai, Johor Bahru,
Johor Darul Takzim.

Intermediate 
Unit Two (2) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

9 Land Area :
1,650

Build-up :
3,124

Leasehold                            
(991-Year)

Expiring Date :
4 Sep 2911

14 May  
2009

321,438

22 19, Jalan Sungai  
Damansara B 32/B,
Berjaya Park, Seksyen 32,
40460 Shah Alam,
Selangor Darul Ehsan.

Corner Unit 
Single Storey 

Shop

As 7-Eleven 
Convenience Store 

11 Land Area :
1,647

Build-up :
1,646

Freehold 17 Aug  
2007

276,680

23 No 47, Jalan TTJS/A,
Taman Tuanku Jaafar,
71450 Seremban,
Negeri Sembilan Darul Khusus.

Corner Unit  
Two (2) Storey 
Shop Office 

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

17 Land Area :
1,988

Build-up :
3,978

Freehold 22 Apr  
1996

254,957

24 No 422,  
Jalan Cenderawasih 2,
Taman Paroi Jaya,
70400 Seremban,
Negeri Sembilan Darul Khusus.

Intermediate 
Unit Two (2) 
Storey Shop 

Office

Ground floor 
as 7-Eleven 

Convenience Store 
and other floors for 

rental purpose

33 Land Area :
1,755

Build-up :
3,295

Freehold 29 Sep  
2008

232,300

25 No 155,
Jalan Bandar Senawang 8,
Pusat Bandar Senawang,
70450 Seremban,
Negeri Sembilan Darul Khusus.

Intermediate 
Unit Two (2) 
Storey Shop 

Office

For rental purpose 14 Land Area :
1,400

Build-up :
2,660

Leasehold                               
(99-Year)

Expiring Date :
4 Dec 2088

21 Jun  
1997

211,402
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE
INFORMATION

1.	 Status of Utilisation of Proceeds

	 As at 31 March 2017, the status of utilisation of proceeds from the Public Issue of 181,385,000 new ordinary shares at 
RM1.38 per share are as follows:-

Purposes
Proposed

utilisation
RM’000

Actual
utilisation

at the date
of this
report

RM’000

Deviation 
between 

actual and  
proposed 

utilisation
(Note 1)
RM’000

Change of 
proposed 

utilisation
(Note 2)
RM’000

Revised
balance
RM’000

Estimated 
time 

frame for 
utilisation

i. Capital expenditure 184,790 137,910 - (40,790) 6,090 Within 36  
months

ii. Working capital 42,664 92,610 (9,156) 40,790 -
iii. Estimated fees and expenses 

for the Initial Public Offering 
("IPO") and listing exercise

22,857 13,701 9,156 - -

Total gross proceeds 250,311 244,221 - - 6,090

Note:

1.	 Actual fees and expenses incurred for the IPO and listing exercise were less than the estimated fees and expenses by 
approximately RM9.2 million.  The excess arising from actual listing expenses compared to the estimated expenses 
have been utilised for working capital purposes.

2.	 As announced to the Bursa Securities on 13 November 2015, the Board of Directors had approved for the unutilised 
balance of RM40.79 million included under capital expenditure that was allocated for the construction of the new 
combined distribution center on its existing land to be reallocated for working capital. 

2.	 Audit and Non-Audit Fees

The amounts of non-audit fees paid to the External Auditors or a firm affiliated to the External Auditors by the Company 
and the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 are as follows:-

Group
(RM)

Company
(RM)

Audit 438,000 73,000
Non-Audit 80,160 12,000

3.	 Material Contracts

There were no material contracts of the Company and subsidiaries involving Directors’ and major shareholders' interest, 
either still subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2016 or entered into since the end of the previous 
financial year ended 31 December 2015.

4.	 Recurrent Related Party Transactions

At the AGM to be held on 24 May 2017, the Company intends to seek the shareholders’ mandate for recurrent related 
party transactions which it has entered and will enter with its related parties, which are necessary for the day-to-day 
operations of the Group and are based on normal commercial terms that are not more favourable to its related parties than 
those generally available to the public.

Further details of which will be disclosed in the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 April 2017.
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STATUS OF COMPLIANCE 
OF CERTAIN OWNED AND TENANTED OUTLETS INVOLVING THE CERTIFICATE OF 

FITNESS FOR OCCUPATION /CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION AND COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to our prospectus dated 8 May 2014 in conjunction of our initial public offering (“Prospectus”), the Group undertook 
to resolve non-compliance of certain owned and tenanted outlets involving the Certificate of Fitness for Occupation (“CF”) and 
Certificate of Completion and Compliance (“CCC”).

The Group had on 8 September 2016 issued a letter of undertaking to the Securities Commission Malaysia (“SC”) to disclose in 
this annual report the efforts taken, status of compliance and/or decision with regards to the affected outlets.

The efforts taken, status of compliance and decision with regards to the affected outlets are as follows:

Owned outlets

Property address Action taken and status Decision by the Group

No.49, Jalan Sultan 
Ismail, 50250 Kuala 
Lumpur

The building plans were approved by Jabatan Bomba dan
Penyelamat Malaysia and Dewan Bandaraya Kuala
Lumpur (“DBKL”) on 9 June 2014 and 21 August 2015
respectively.

As part of the approval, DBKL imposed a condition that
the outlet will have to be setback by a further 5 feet. In
view thereof, the Group invited contractors to submit
tenders on the proposed setback. However, after taking
into consideration the estimated tangible and intangible
costs as a result of the setback, the Group has held back
the formal awarding of the setback works to the
shortlisted contractor.

After careful deliberation, the Group is of the view that 
no further action is to be taken as it is not pragmatic 
and not in the best interest of its stakeholders due to the 
following reasons:

(i)	 the high cost involved for the setback works;

(ii)	 the setting back will further disadvantage the outlet 
in term of visibility in relation to businesses along 
the same row of shops;

(iii)	 the Group has been able to renew the outlet’s 
trading license on a yearly basis since the outlet 
commenced operations; and

(iv)	 the penalty which the authority may impose on the 
Group due to the non-availability of CCC is not 
expected to be material.

No. 479, Jalan Yang
Kalsom, 30250 Ipoh,
Perak

The building plan was approved by Majlis Bandaraya Ipoh
(“MBI”) vide its letter dated 19 May 2015 and Jabatan Bomba 
dan Penyelamat Malaysia had on 18 December 2015 issued 
“Surat Sokongan” for the rectification works as required by 
MBI. MBI subsequently requested for an endorsement from 
a renovation contractor despite no renovation works were 
carried out on the said outlet.

The approved building plan has since expired in May 2016 
and the Group has on 17 August 2016 resubmitted the 
building plan for approval.

MBI has on 13 January 2017 approved the building plan 
submitted by the Group and the CCC has been issued by 
the architect on 17 February 2017.

Tenanted outlets

Category Action taken and status of outlet(s) under the category No. of 
outlets Decision by the Group

A DBKL has responded to the Group that it believes CF would have 
been issued because yearly assessment (i.e. cukai pintu) for the 
buildings / premises has been imposed by DBKL.

51 No action is to be taken as the Group regards the 
confirmation from DBKL as evidence that the CF for these 
outlets has been issued.

B Majlis Perbandaran Pulau Pinang (“MPPP”) did not respond to 
7-Eleven Malaysia’s request for a copy of CF/CCC and verbally 
requested that the relevant property owners (i.e. the landlords) 
liaise with MPPP directly to request for a copy of CF/CCC. 
However, the landlords refused to co-operate.

The Group wrote to MPPP seeking confirmation whether CF/CCC 
have been issued for the particular area / development / housing 
estate / housing scheme where the Affected Outlets are located. 
MPPP maintained that they will only respond to requests made 
by the landlords.

6 The Group is of the view that it has taken all necessary 
actions and that the matter is beyond the Group’s control. 
The Group has been able to renew the outlets’ trading 
licenses on a yearly basis since the outlets commenced 
operations.
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STATUS OF COMPLIANCE 
OF CERTAIN OWNED AND TENANTED OUTLETS INVOLVING THE CERTIFICATE OF 

FITNESS FOR OCCUPATION /CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION AND COMPLIANCE

Tenanted outlets (cont'd)

Category Action taken and status of outlet(s) under the category No. of 
outlets Decision by the Group

C The relevant local councils have responded that they are not able 
to locate the copy of the CF/CCC from their records

The Group wrote to the respective local councils to seek the local 
councils’ confirmation whether CF/CCC have been issued for the 
particular area / development / housing estate / housing scheme 
where these Affected Outlets are located.

The Group will rely on the confirmation from the local councils 
that the CF/CCC have been issued for these Affected Outlets in 
complying with the SC’s conditions.

85 The Group is of the view that it has taken all necessary 
actions and in the event the local councils do not 
respond to the Group, no further action is to be taken as 
the matter is beyond the Group’s control.

The Group has been able to renew the outlets’ trading 
licenses on a yearly basis since the outlets commenced 
operations.

D No response from local councils despite follow-up attempts 
by the Group, including making multiple visits to the relevant 
local councils’ office and telephone calls

The Group wrote to the respective local councils to seek the 
local councils’ confirmation whether CF/CCC have been 
issued for the particular area / development / housing estate 
/ housing scheme where these Affected Outlets are located.

The Group will rely on the confirmation from the local 
councils that the CF/CCC have been issued for these Affected 
Outlets in complying with the SC’s conditions.

131 The Group is of the view that it has taken all necessary 
actions and in the event the local councils do not 
respond to the Group, no further action is to be taken as 
the matter is beyond the Group’s control.

The Group has been able to renew the outlets’ trading 
licenses on a yearly basis since the outlets commenced 
operations.

E The relevant local councils have responded that there is no CF 
in their records and that the Affected Outlets are ‘old buildings’

5 The Group is of the view that no further action is to be 
taken in respect of these outlets as it believes that these 
buildings were constructed prior to the effective date of 
the Street, Drainage and Building Act, 1974.

The Group has been able to renew the outlets’ trading 
licenses on a yearly basis since the outlets commenced 
operations.

F The landlords who happen to be local councils and government 
bodies have responded that the buildings do not have CF / CCC 
but are in compliance with the relevant laws.

3 The Group is of the view that no further action is to be 
taken as the Group has been able to renew the outlets’ 
trading licenses on a yearly basis since the outlets 
commenced operations.

G An outlet located in a campus which the landlord is applying for 
occupation permit (equivalent to CCC).

1 The Group is of the view that no further action is to be 
taken other than following up with the landlord on the 
issuance of occupation permit.

The Group has been able to renew the outlet’s trading 
license on a yearly basis since the outlet commenced 
operations.

H Outlets without valid Trading and/or Advertising licenses as the 
premises were not issued with CF/CCC and the landlords of the 
outlets are applying for CCC.

2 The Group is of the view that no further action is to be 
taken other than following up with the landlords on the 
issuance of CCC. The Group is of the view that the fines 
which the authorities had imposed on the Group due 
to no valid Trading and/or Advertising licenses were not 
material.

I An outlet in a development area which is in dispute between the 
developer and a state corporation which is operating without 
a valid Advertising License due to non-issuance of occupation 
permit for the development.

1 The Group is of the view that no further action is to be 
taken as the matter is beyond the Group’s control. No 
penalties were imposed on the Group to-date.

The Group has been able to renew the outlet’s trading 
license on a yearly basis since the outlet commenced 
operations.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2017

Total Number of Issued Shares	 :	 1,110,385,000 (excluding treasury shares of 123,000,000)
Class of Shares			   :	 Ordinary shares 
Voting Rights			   : 	 One vote per ordinary share

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholdings
No. of 

Shareholders %
No. of Shares 

Held  %

Less than 100 31 2.04 302 0.00
100 – 1,000 364 23.93 254,823 0.02
1,001 – 10,000 766 50.36 3,628,455 0.29
10,001 – 100,000 228 14.99 6,842,900 0.56
100,001 – 61,669,249 128 8.42 549,177,720 44.53
61,669,250 and above 4 0.26 673,480,800 54.60

TOTAL 1,521 100.00 1,233,385,000 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The substantial shareholders of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad based on the Register of Substantial Shareholders of the 
Company and their respective shareholdings as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:-  

No. of Shares

Substantial Shareholders Direct % Indirect %

Berjaya Retail Berhad (“BRetail”) 537,865,700 48.44 1,500,000(1) 0.14
Premier Merchandise Sdn. Bhd. (“PMSB”) - - 539,365,700(2) 48.57
Intan Utilities Berhad (“IUB”) - - 539,365,700(3) 48.57
Vista Meranti Sdn. Bhd. (“VMSB”) - - 539,365,700(4) 48.57
HQZ Credit Sdn. Bhd. (“HQZ”) - - 539,365,700(5) 48.57
Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Vincent Tan Chee Yioun 6,495,000 0.58 551,365,700(6) 49.66
Genesis Investment Management, LLP 65,789,000 5.92 - -
Franklin Resources, Inc 66,861,200 6.02 - -
Isotrema Sdn. Bhd. (“ISB”) 83,080,800 7.48 - -
Creador II, LLC - - 83,080,800(7) 7.48

Note:

(1)	 Deemed interested by virtue of its interest in Berjaya Credit Sdn. Bhd. (“BCredit”).
(2)	 Deemed interested by virtue of its 100% interest in BRetail. BRetail is the holding company of BCredit.
(3)	 Deemed interested by virtue of its 100% interest in PMSB, the immediate holding company of BRetail. PMSB is deemed 

as the intermediate holding company of BCredit.
(4)	 Deemed interested by virtue of its 100% interest in IUB, the intermediate holding company of BRetail. IUB is deemed as 

the intermediate holding company of BCredit.
(5)	 Deemed interested by virtue of its 100% interest in VMSB, the penultimate holding company of BRetail. VMSB is deemed 

as the penultimate holding company of BCredit.
(6)	 Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in the following companies:-

∙	 HQZ, the ultimate holding company of BRetail and BCredit; and
∙	 Berjaya Corporation Berhad, the ultimate holding company of Berjaya Land Berhad and Berjaya Philippines, Inc.

(7)	 Deemed interested by virtue of its controlling interest in ISB pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2017

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

The Directors’ interests based on the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings of the Company as at 31 March 2017 are as follows:-

Number of ordinary shares 

Direct Interest Indirect Interest

Directors
No. of 

Shares Held %
No. of 

Shares Held %

Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Abdull Hamid Bin Embong - - - -
Tan Wai Foon - - - -
Gary Thomas Brown 100,000 0.01 - -
Hishammudin Bin Hasan - - - -
Chan Kien Sing 100,000 0.01 - -
Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah - - - -
Ho Meng 90,000 0.01 - -
Shalet Marian 200,000 0.02 - -
Tan U-Ming 600,000 0.05 - -
Muhammad Lukman Bin Musa @ Hussain 120,000 0.01 - -

LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS  
AS AT 31 MARCH 2017

No. Name of Shareholders No. of Shares %

1. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd  
Pledged Securities Account For Berjaya Retail Berhad (BRetail) (533531)

272,600,000 22.10

2. CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account For Berjaya Retail Berhad (BRB - Singer CBM)

194,800,000 15.79

3. 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad 
Share Buy Back Account

123,000,000 9.97

4. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 
Deutsche Bank AG Singapore For Isotrema Sdn Bhd

83,080,800 6.74

5. CIMB Group Nominees (Asing) Sdn. Bhd. 
Exempt An For DBS Bank Ltd (SFS)

51,620,700 4.19

6. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt An For J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. (2)

38,889,100 3.15

7. Cimsec Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
CIMB Bank For Cheng Joo Teik (MY2225)

26,750,000 2.17

8. Malaysia Nominees (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad 
Pledged Securities Account For Berjaya Retail Berhad (01-00854-000)

26,650,000 2.16

9. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
SSBT Fund W4B0 For Wasatch International Opportunities Fund

22,925,008 1.86

10. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account For Berjaya Retail Berhad

22,289,700 1.81

11. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt An For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (U.S.A.)

21,312,639 1.73

12. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
BBH (Lux) SCA For The Genesis Emerging Markets Investment Company

20,334,300 1.65
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No. Name of Shareholders No. of Shares %

13. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd  
TNTC For The Genesis Group Trust For Employee Benefit Plans

20,271,020 1.64

14. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Employees Provident Fund Board (Affin-Hwg)

18,833,200 1.53

15. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt An For JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (JPMelab AIF APG)

16,595,000 1.35

16. Kong Hon Kong 14,500,000 1.18

17. Casi Management Sdn Bhd 13,300,000 1.08

18. UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Banque De Luxembourg For BL Emerging Markets

11,248,700 0.91

19. Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account For Berjaya Retail Berhad(001) (Third Party)

11,000,000 0.89

20. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
SSBT Fund G449 For Goldman Sachs Funds - Goldman Sachs Growth & Emerging 
Markets Broad Equity Portfolio

10,765,100 0.87

21. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt An For Citibank New York (Norges Bank 9)

10,166,300 0.82

22. Multi-Purpose Capital Holdings Berhad 10,000,000 0.81

23. JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
AEH Capital Sdn Bhd For Berjaya Land Berhad

10,000,000 0.81

24. Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Malayan Banking Berhad For Berjaya Retail Berhad

9,350,000 0.76

25. Maybank Securities Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Exempt An For Japan Asia Securities Co Ltd (Client A/C)

7,586,000 0.62

26. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
SSBT Fund KG67 For Invesco International Small Company Fund

6,924,600 0.56

27. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Employees Provident Fund Board (F Templeton)

6,898,000 0.56

28. Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account For Koon Poh Keong

6,200,000 0.50

29. Inter-Pacific Equity Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 
Pledged Securities Account For Lye Ek Seang (AL0101)

6,000,000 0.49

30. UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 
Banque De Luxembourg For BL-Equities Asia

5,711,900 0.46

1,099,602,067 89.16



7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD (1058531-W) • ANNUAL REPORT 2016 113

NOTICE OF FOURTH  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Perdana Ballroom, Bukit 
Jalil Golf & Country Resort, Jalan Jalil Perkasa 3, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on Wednesday, 24 May 2017 at 10:00 a.m. to 
transact the following business:-

AGENDA

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 together 
with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

[Please refer  
to Explanatory 

Note (i)]

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM307,268/- for the financial year ended 31 December 
2016.

Ordinary 
Resolution 1

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for an amount of up to RM595,000/- payable on a monthly 
basis and benefits up to RM50,000/- to the Non-Executive Directors with effect from 1 January 2017 to 
the next Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary 
Resolution 2

4. To re-elect the following Directors who retire in accordance with Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:-

(a)	 Chan Kien Sing Ordinary 
Resolution 3

(b)	 Ho Meng Ordinary 
Resolution 4

5. To re-elect the following Directors who retire in accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election:-

(a)	 Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Abdull Hamid Bin Embong Ordinary 
Resolution 5

(b)	 Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah Ordinary 
Resolution 6

(c)	 Hishammudin Bin Hasan Ordinary 
Resolution 7

6. To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the 
Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary 
Resolution 8

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, with or without any modification, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:-

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
-	 AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 

2016

"THAT, subject always to the Companies Act 2016, the Articles of Association of the Company and 
the approvals of the relevant governmental/regulatory authorities, if applicable, the Directors be and 
are hereby empowered, pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016, to issue shares 
in the Company from time to time to such persons and upon such terms and conditions and for such 
purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that the aggregate number 
of shares issued pursuant to this Resolution does not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares 
of the Company for the time being; AND THAT the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the 
approval for the listing of and quotation for the additional shares so issued on Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad; AND THAT such authority shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.”

Ordinary 
Resolution 9

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
-	 PROPOSED RENEWAL OF AND NEW SHAREHOLDERS’ MANDATE FOR RECURRENT RELATED 

PARTY TRANSACTIONS OF A REVENUE OR TRADING NATURE

Ordinary 
Resolution 10
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“THAT, subject to the provisions of the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s Main Market Listing 
Requirements, approval be and is hereby given for the Company and its subsidiary companies, to enter 
into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature with the related parties as specified 
in Section 2.3 of the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 April 2017 (“Proposed Mandate”) which are 
necessary for the day-to-day operations and/or in the ordinary course of business of the Company and its 
subsidiary companies on terms not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available 
to the public and are not detrimental to the minority shareholders of the Company and that such approval 
shall continue to be in force until:- 

(a) 	the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following the AGM at 
which such ordinary resolution for the Proposed Mandate will be passed, at which time it will lapse, 
unless by ordinary resolution passed at that general meeting, the authority is renewed; 

(b) 	the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after the date it is required to be held pursuant 
to Section 340(2) of the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”) (but shall not extend to such extension as 
may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Act); or 

(c) 	revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general 
meeting; 

whichever is the earlier;

AND FURTHER THAT authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company and its subsidiary 
companies to complete and do all such acts and things (including executing such documents as may be 
required) to give effect to such transactions as authorised by this Ordinary Resolution.”

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
-	 PROPOSED RENEWAL OF AUTHORITY FOR THE COMPANY TO PURCHASE ITS OWN SHARES 

“THAT, subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (“the Act”), rules, regulations and orders made 
pursuant to the Act, provisions of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the 
requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Exchange”) and any other relevant authority, the 
Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to purchase such number of ordinary shares 
in the Company (“7-Eleven Holdings Shares”) through the Exchange and to take all such steps as are 
necessary (including the opening and maintaining of central depositories accounts under the Securities 
Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991) and enter into any agreement, arrangement and guarantee 
with any party or parties to implement, finalise and give full effect to the aforesaid purchase with full 
powers to assent to any condition, modification, revaluation, variation and/or amendment (if any) as may 
be imposed by the relevant authorities from time to time and to do all such acts and things in the best 
interests of the Company, subject further to the following:- 

1. 	 the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be purchased and held by the Company shall be 
equivalent to ten per centum (10%) of the existing total number of issued shares in the ordinary share 
capital of the Company; 

2. 	 the maximum funds to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of purchasing the ordinary 
shares shall not exceed the total retained profits of the Company; 

3. 	 the authority shall commence immediately upon passing of this ordinary resolution until:- 

(a) 	the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company following the AGM 
at which such resolution was passed, at which time it will lapse unless by ordinary resolution 
passed at that general meeting, the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to 
conditions; or 

(b) 	the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after that date it is required by law to be 
held; or 

(c) 	revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general 
meeting; 

whichever occurs first. 

Ordinary 
Resolution 11
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AND THAT upon completion of the purchase(s) of the 7-Eleven Holdings Shares or any part thereof by 
the Company, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to deal with any 7-Eleven 
Holdings Shares so purchased by the Company in the following manner:- 

(a) 	cancel all the 7-Eleven Holdings Shares so purchased; or 

(b) 	retain all the 7-Eleven Holdings Shares as treasury shares for future resale or for distribution as 
dividends to the shareholders of the Company; or 

(c) 	retain part thereof as treasury shares and subsequently cancelling the balance; or 

(d) 	in any other manner as prescribed by the Act, rules, regulations and orders made pursuant to the Act 
and the requirements of the Exchange and any other relevant authority for the time being in force.” 

10. To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

By Order of the Board

CHUA SIEW CHUAN (MAICSA 0777689)
PAN SENG WEE (MAICSA 7034299)
Company Secretaries

Kuala Lumpur
28 April 2017

NOTES:

1.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 17 May 2017 (“General 
Meeting Record of Depositors”) shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on his/her behalf. A 
proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.

3.	 A member shall be entitled to appoint one (1) proxy only to attend and vote at the same meeting. Where a member is 
an authorised nominee as defined under the Central Depositories Act, it may appoint one (1) proxy in respect of each 
securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account. Where 
a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the 
exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised 
in writing or if the appointor is a corporation either under its common seal, or the hand of its officer or its duly authorised 
attorney. An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be deemed to include the power to demand or join in 
demanding a poll on behalf of the appointor.

5.	 To be valid, this form, duly completed must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at c/o Securities Services 
(Holdings) Sdn. Bhd., Level 7, Menara Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 
Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding the meeting PROVIDED THAT in the event 
the member(s) duly executes the form of proxy but does not name any proxy, such member(s) shall be deemed to have 
appointed the Chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy, PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the rest of the proxy form, other than 
the particulars of the proxy have been duly completed by member(s).
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Explanatory Notes on Ordinary and Special Business

(i) 	 Item 1 of the Agenda

	 This Agenda item is meant for discussion only, as the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 does 
not require a formal approval of the shareholders for the Audited Financial Statements. Hence, this Agenda item is not 
put forward for voting.

(ii)	 Ordinary Resolution 2 – Payment of Directors’ fees and benefits

	 In compliance with Section 230(1) of the Companies Act 2016 which comes into force on 31 January 2017, the 
Company is requesting shareholders’ approval for the payment of the Directors’ fees to the Non-Executive Directors 
to be payable on monthly basis and benefits with effect from 1 January 2017 to the next Annual General Meeting. The 
benefits comprise meeting allowance payable to the Non-Executive Directors. 

(iii)	 Ordinary Resolution 9 – Authority to Issue Shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016

	 The Company wishes to renew the mandate on the authority to issue shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the 
Companies Act 2016 at the Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company (hereinafter referred to as the “General 
Mandate”). 

	 The Company had been granted a general mandate by its shareholders at the Third Annual General Meeting of the 
Company held on 26 May 2016 (hereinafter referred to as the “Previous Mandate”). 

	 As at the date of this Notice, the Previous Mandate granted by the shareholders had not been utilised and hence no 
proceeds were raised therefrom.  

	 The proposed resolution, if passed, would provide flexibility to the Directors to undertake fund raising activities, 
including but not limited to placement of shares for the funding of the Company’s future investment projects, working 
capital and/or acquisitions, by the issuance of shares in the Company to such persons at any time as the Directors may 
deem fit, without having to convene a general meeting. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a 
general meeting will expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

(iv)	 Ordinary Resolution 10 – Proposed Renewal of and New Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions 
of a revenue or trading nature 

	 The proposed resolution, if passed, will allow the Group to enter into Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a revenue 
or trading nature pursuant to the provisions of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Main Market Listing Requirements.

	 Please refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 April 2017 for further information.

(v)	 Ordinary Resolution 11 – Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to purchase its own shares

	 The proposed resolution, if passed, will allow the Company to purchase its own shares up to 10% of the total issued 
share capital of the Company by utilising the funds allocated which shall not be exceed the total retained profits of the 
Company.

	 Please refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 April 2017 for further information.



FORM OF PROXY

7-ELEVEN MALAYSIA HOLDINGS BERHAD
(1058531-W) (Incorporated in Malaysia)

CDS Account No.

Number of ordinary shares

I/We                                                                      		  NRIC No./Passport No./Company No.	

of	  

being a member/members of 7-Eleven Malaysia Holdings Berhad hereby appoint :-

Full Name (in Block) Address

NRIC/Passport No. :

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our proxy to vote for *me/us and on *my/our behalf at the Fourth Annual General Meeting 
of the Company to be held at Perdana Ballroom, Bukit Jalil Golf & Country Resort, Jalan Jalil Perkasa 3, Bukit Jalil, 57000 Kuala Lumpur on 
Wednesday, 24 May 2017 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

My/our proxy is to vote as indicated below :-

Item Agenda

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 together with 
the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors thereon.

Ordinary Business Resolution For Against

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM307,268/- for the financial year ended 31 December 2016. 1

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for an amount of up to RM595,000/- payable on a monthly basis 
and benefits up to RM50,000/- to the Non-Executive Directors with effect from 1 January 2017 to the next 
Annual General Meeting.

2

4. To re-elect Chan Kien Sing who retires in accordance with Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

3

5. To re-elect Ho Meng who retires in accordance with Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of Association 
and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

4

6. To re-elect Tan Sri Dato’ Seri Abdull Hamid Bin Embong who retires in accordance with Article 101 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

5

7. To re-elect Puan Sri Datuk Rohani Binti Abdullah who retires in accordance with Article 101 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association and being eligible, offers herself for re-election.

6

8. To re-elect Hishammudin Bin Hasan who retires in accordance with Article 101 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

7

9. To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as the Company’s Auditors for the ensuing year and to authorise the 
Board of Directors to fix their remuneration.

8

Special Business

10. Authority to Issue Shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Companies Act 2016 9

11. Proposed Renewal of and New Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a 
Revenue or Trading Nature

10

12. Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to purchase its own shares 11

Please indicate with an “X” in the appropriate spaces how you wish your proxy to vote. If you do not indicate how you wish your proxy to vote 
on any resolution, the proxy shall vote as he/she thinks fit or, at his/her discretion, abstain from voting. 

Dated this day 		  of 			         2017
									               *Signature/Common Seal of Shareholder
										          * Delete if not applicable
Notes:-

1.	 In respect of deposited securities, only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 17 May 2017 (“General Meeting Record of Depositors”) 
shall be eligible to attend the Meeting.

2.	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on his/her behalf. A proxy may but need not be a member 
of the Company.

3.	 A member shall be entitled to appoint one (1) proxy only to attend and vote at the same meeting. Where a member is an authorised nominee as defined under the 
Central Depositories Act, it may appoint one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit 
of the said securities account. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple 
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint 
in respect of each omnibus account it holds.

4.	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or if the appointor is a 
corporation either under its common seal, or the hand of its officer or its duly authorised attorney. An instrument appointing a proxy to vote at a meeting shall be 
deemed to include the power to demand or join in demanding a poll on behalf of the appointor.

5.	 To be valid, this form, duly completed must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at c/o Securities Services (Holdings) Sdn. Bhd., Level 7, Menara 
Milenium, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time for holding 
the meeting PROVIDED THAT in the event the member(s) duly executes the form of proxy but does not name any proxy, such member(s) shall be deemed to have 
appointed the Chairman of the meeting as his/her proxy, PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the rest of the proxy form, other than the particulars of the proxy have been 
duly completed by member(s).
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